



## **COVID-19 and Gender**

A Synthesis Report

July 2020

## Contents

Executive Summary
Introduction
Methodology
Cross-Cutting Recommendations for U.S. Policymakers
Major Impacts and High-Priority Responses by Topic
Health and Health Systems
Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights
Gender-Based Violence (GBV)
COVID Testing, Contact Tracing and Gender-Based Violence1
Women's Economic Empowerment12
Food Security and Nutrition14
Humanitarian Situations
Education16
Women's Leadership and Participation in Decision-Making18
Conclusion19
Endnotes
Bibliography

## **Executive Summary**

To date, COVID-19 has devastated global communities and threatens to set back decades of progress in global development, with a unique impact on women and girls. Underlying gender discrimination that pre-dated COVID-19 has exacerbated some of the disease's worst effects on women and girls in particular and continues to drive practices such as gender-based violence and inequities in household care, education, and economic opportunity. Current threats to women and girls due to COVID continue to unfold, but evidence shows that particular impacts include: high risk of exposure to COVID-19 infection due to their unique overrepresentation within the health care sector and the disproportionate burden of unpaid care they perform; increased risk of gender-based violence; long-term economic ramifications; poor access to life-saving medical services, including essential sexual and reproductive care and treatment for non-COVID health risks; specific impacts on food security and nutrition; and compounded challenges in humanitarian crises. Even as these risks affect the health and security of women and girls globally, they are largely excluded from the decision-making bodies tasked with developing and implementing responses, resulting in clear gaps in meeting their needs and potentially causing them further harm.

COVID has widespread impacts on global poverty. The most recent estimate is that 10 percent of the world's population—734 million people—already live in extreme poverty. It is likely that half a billion people will sink below the extreme poverty line (\$1.90 per day) in the coming year due to COVID—the majority being women and female-headed household. Furthermore, COVID–19 exacerbates the world's worst recorded humanitarian crisis with more than 70 million people—half of whom are women and girls—forced to flee their homes due to persecution, conflict, violence, and human rights violations. COVID will complicate both displacement and humanitarian response, raising concern about millions of people who are already made vulnerable by complex humanitarian crises.

Given this context, a gender- and equity-blind COVID-19 response will likely cause millions of needless deaths, spike interpersonal and gender-based violence, unravel decades of gains in poverty reduction, reduce citizens' trust in government, fuel civil unrest, trigger famine, and generate even larger numbers of global displacement.

This report synthesizes the findings and recommendations of over XX reports, briefs, and other analyses developed since the onset of COVID-19 focusing on the unique impacts on women and girls. Some of the cross-cutting recommendations for U.S. Government policymakers include:

- Base all COVID-19 responses (policy, programs, and guidance) on a thorough gender analysis.
- Collect and use gender-, age- and other disaggregated data to develop responses to COVID-19.
- Ensure access to information for women, girls, and other marginalized, isolated, or hard-to-reach community members.
- Prioritize women's and girls' leadership and participation in COVID-19 responses and decision-making.
- Prioritize the use of cash assistance, cash transfers, and vouchers as a primary response geared towards addressing the needs of women and girls.
- Address root causes of gender discrimination such as harmful social norms.
- Devote more resources toward researching the gendered implications of public health emergencies before, during, and after a crisis.
- Protect the rights and safety of human rights defenders.

## Introduction

The devastating impacts of COVID-19 on communities globally are just starting to emerge, but paint a picture of long-term ripple effects that threaten to set back decades of progress. As governments and the global community develop responses to this global pandemic, a plethora of reports, briefs, and guidance documents have offered early analysis on the various issues raised by COVID-19.

This resource briefly synthesizes the acute ways in which the crisis has different impacts based on gender specifically, and aims to provide some coherence to the multitude of resources and recommendations on key issues offered for policymakers to address. It is intended to be a quick resource guide to help inform policy decision-making to ensure resources are leveraged effectively in addressing the broader crisis, and setting the stage for recovery.

As catalogued by numerous early reports and policy analyses by international NGOs, global bodies, academic institutions, and local organizations, COVID-19 has unique and specific impacts on women and girls. These impacts will further affect specific sub-groups of women and girls who are experiencing multiple forms of adversity. The pandemic will have far-reaching implications for them, their communities, and countries long after this initial crisis abates. While the full extent of the impact on women and girls continues to unfold, early reports point to gendered factors including, but not limited to:

- Disproportionate exposure to COVID-19 infection;
- Increased risk of gender-based violence;
- Deep long-term economic ramifications on women and girls;
- Unique non-COVID health risks and gaps in services;
- Specific impacts on food security and nutrition; and
- Compounded challenges in humanitarian crises.

Of particular concern is the long-term toll COVID-19 will take on decades of progress made in global development, especially if the gendered impacts of the crisis are not adequately taken into account. The most recent estimate is that 10 percent of the world's population—734 million people—already live in extreme poverty<sup>1</sup> and half a billion people will sink below the extreme poverty line (\$1.90 per day) in the coming year due to COVID.<sup>2</sup> The majority of these are likely to be women and female-headed households.<sup>3</sup> This pandemic threatens to roll back even small gains made in areas crucial to the lives of women and girls, including healthcare, reducing income inequality, and addressing gender discrimination that drives practices such as child marriage, gender-based violence, and inequities in education and economic opportunity.<sup>4</sup>

Further, the challenges of COVID-19 to international development fall against a backdrop of the world's worst recorded humanitarian crisis with more than 70 million people – half of whom are women and girls – forced into displacement. The complexities of displacement and the challenges of humanitarian response will be further compounded by COVID-19, raising particular concern for the millions of people already made vulnerable by complex humanitarian crises.

Given this context, a gender- and equity-blind COVID-19 response will likely cause millions of needless deaths, spike interpersonal and gender-based violence, unravel decades of gains in poverty reduction, reduce citizens' trust in government, fuel civil unrest, trigger famine, and generate even larger numbers of global displacement.

## Methodology

This paper brings together findings from more than 40 calls to action and recent studies to summarize the most pressing COVID-19-triggered challenges facing women and girls in poverty globally. This synthesis report also highlights key policy and program recommendations proposed by international implementers, civil society organizations, academic institutions, and global bodies.

A scan of resources available online identified more than 100 pieces that touched on gender and COVID-19. All sources were published between January 1 and May 29, 2020. Excluding media articles and U.S. Government sources and prioritizing reports from local and international NGOs, advocacy coalitions, think tanks, multilateral agencies, and academic literature yielded more than 90 reports and calls to action for U.S. policymakers to consider.

Key findings, statements, and recommendations were then identified from each piece, and areas of overlap with other literature were drawn out and included in this synthesis report. Statements, statistics, and recommendations have key citations, though there may have been many more articles that included a given point.

Access CARE's Gender and COVID Library of Resources here.



# Cross-Cutting Recommendations for U.S. Policymakers

- Base all COVID-19 responses (policy, programs, and guidance) on a thorough gender analysis: <sup>5</sup> Governments, donors, and implementers should conduct gender analyses that include women, girls, and gender minorities for all COVID response initiatives to ensure that they are responsive to the needs of marginalized groups and, at a minimum, do no harm. Decision-makers and those coordinating response efforts should use existing gender analyses and include gender specialists at all levels to inform COVID-19 preparedness and response measures.
- Collect and use gender-, age-and other disaggregated data to develop responses to COVID-19:<sup>6</sup> Gather data on the impacts of COVID-19, including but not limited to rates of contraction, hospitalization, and mortality from COVID-19; access to credible information on COVID-19; incidence of gender-based violence; risks and impacts of stay-at-home measures on women's employment and businesses; access to agricultural inputs and other needs; access to other necessary commodities and services; and particular impacts in humanitarian settings. It is critical to collect, analyze, and publish data by gender, age, race, ethnicity, locality, household type (e.g. female-headed, child-headed), and household income, if possible.
- Ensure access to information for women, girls, and other marginalized, isolated, or hard-to-reach community members:<sup>7</sup> Adapt approaches to ensure equitable access to accurate and user-friendly information and services on COVID-19 prevention, impacts, and services available. These approaches should be tailored for adolescents, people living with disabilities, LGBTQI+ individuals, and other marginalized groups. Account for gaps in access to digital technology or other barriers, such as language and literacy levels, when adapting modes of communication. Include information on available services in public awareness campaigns about COVID-19 and materials for health care providers, humanitarian aid, and outreach workers.
- Prioritize women's and girls' leadership and participation in COVID-19 responses and decision-making:<sup>8</sup> Meaningfully and proactively engage women, girls, and marginalized groups in leadership and decision-making roles throughout COVID-19 response and recovery. Engage existing informal and formal social networks such as women's groups and community groups to support their efforts to prevent social isolation and to serve as first responders. Increase funding to local organizations, particularly women's rights organizations, at all levels, and provide flexibility in grant arrangements to allow them to adapt appropriately to the needs of their community. Ensure decision-making bodies are gender-balanced and inclusive, and include qualified gender experts.
- Prioritize the use of cash assistance, cash transfers, and vouchers as a primary response geared towards addressing the needs of women and girls:<sup>9</sup> Provide additional and/or longer-term unconditional assistance, particularly cash or voucher assistance, to help households sustain themselves throughout the pandemic, and reduce reliance on negative alternatives. Social protection in the form of direct cash transfers, commodities, or food vouchers all boost food and nutrition security and giving transfers directly to women helps them control these resources for the benefit of their families.<sup>10</sup> Cash transfers are effective in not only meeting immediate needs, but in multiplying economic benefits in Nigeria, families that received cash or in-kind transfers were more likely to work, eat nutritiously, and create assets to protect themselves from future shocks.<sup>11</sup> Women in those households were also more inclined to start a business.<sup>12</sup> When providing cash or voucher assistance, however, implementers should mitigate against unintended negative consequences, such as a rise in gender-based violence as a result of the assistance targeting women.<sup>13</sup>
- Address root causes of gender discrimination such as harmful social norms:<sup>14</sup> Continue and further increase support for longer-term initiatives that advance gender-equitable social norms and infrastructure, such as childcare services and programs to support the involvement of men and boys in household duties to alleviate women and girls' disproportionate unpaid care burdens. These measures should also support engaging men and boys on prevention of gender-based discrimination and violence and promote women's voice and leadership at all levels.<sup>15</sup>

- Research/Learning:<sup>16</sup> Devote more resources toward researching the gendered implications of public health emergencies before, during, and after a crisis, especially disease outbreaks, so that public health preparedness and response plans can mitigate harm to women, girls, and other vulnerable groups. Include the use of standard indicators to assess the extent to which U.S. Government strategies, projects, activities, and programs responding to COVID-19 either widen or narrow gender gaps in the economy and more broadly.
- Protect the rights and safety of human rights defenders:<sup>17</sup> Women and girls are routinely denied the ability to exercise their basic human rights and repressive governments are using the COVID crisis as cover to remove dissent, harass and imprison journalists, and target human and women's rights defenders.<sup>18</sup> Several countries that released prisoners to prevent the spread of COVID are keeping women's and other human rights defenders in jail.<sup>19</sup> Increases in human rights violations during COVID-19 response and recovery must be identified and addressed by the global community and donor organizations. In particular, leveraging diplomatic channels and bilateral assistance to protect women's human rights defenders during this time is critical and urgent.



## Major Impacts and High-Priority Responses by Topic

#### **Health and Health Systems**

As of May 15, 40 countries were reporting COVID-19 deaths by sex, and greater numbers of men than women are dying in all but one.<sup>20</sup> Much has been written about the possible reasons for this, from men's genetically based immunological disadvantage and their increased incidence of underlying medical conditions to men's lesser adherence to protective behaviors such as handwashing and mask-wearing.<sup>21</sup>

However, prevailing gender norms, including distinctions in care duties, access to information, and access to modes of prevention, lead to women's and girls' high vulnerability to COVID-19 and its health impacts. Women are 70 percent of healthcare workers globally.<sup>22</sup> Sixty-five percent of African nurses are women and 86 percent of nurses in the Americas are female.<sup>23</sup> This disproportionate representation as frontline health care workers exposes more women than men to patients with COVID.<sup>24</sup>

In addition, frontline humanitarian healthcare providers are faced with increasing scarcity of life-saving personal protective equipment (PPE). Due to the large-scale national and global shortages of PPE, both nationally and internationally, healthcare workers providing lifesaving services like sexual and reproductive health are left exposed. There is also evidence that when supplies of personal protective equipment (PPE) are low, as they are now, male doctors get preferred access.<sup>25</sup>

Gender norms also often dictate that women take on primary responsibility for caregiving in the family, nursing the sick, elderly, and children, which may further expose them to the disease.<sup>26</sup> In many African nations, they are also responsible for preparing bodies for burial.<sup>27</sup> <sup>28</sup> When Ebola struck, women and girls could not refuse to provide care or burial preparation without being castigated.<sup>29</sup>

In addition, in low-income countries, 3 billion people—the vast majority of them women and girls—cook with wood, charcoal, coal, kerosene and other toxic fuels.<sup>30</sup> Household air pollution is responsible for repeated upper respiratory infections, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and asthma, all of which are linked to a higher risk of death from COVID.<sup>31</sup> Furthermore, when water, sanitation, and hygiene services are scarce, women and girls often find that their access to hygiene and sanitary materials is reduced due to decreased household income or increased household competition for limited hygiene resources.<sup>32</sup>

COVID-19 is expected to have major secondary health impacts, especially on those already experiencing health concerns related to pregnancy, disability, chronic illness, or vulnerability to poor health due to age or environmental factors.<sup>33</sup> Movement restrictions may prevent some people from leaving their homes to seek medical care, while fear of contracting the disease may prevent others from accessing health care facilities.<sup>34</sup> This may exacerbate non-COVID-19 health conditions amongst some populations, as well as depress vaccination coverage for children.<sup>35</sup>

Diversion of health care systems towards COVID-19 responses will also disconnect millions of people from treatment for other endemic diseases—such as Ebola, malaria, tuberculosis and non-communicable diseases like hypertension, diabetes and cancers.<sup>36</sup> Low-income countries should anticipate more HIV transmission due to increased gender-based violence such as sexual assault resulting from COVID-19.<sup>37</sup> Outbreaks can also disrupt mental health and psychosocial support services.<sup>38</sup> In the least developed nations, women's health status is already lower than men's due to reproductive health risks, malnutrition, gender-related barriers to care,<sup>39</sup> and discriminatory social norms, which will exacerbate their overall health risks from the current crisis.<sup>40</sup>

For women and girls, who due to a variety of social norms already encountered relative isolation, access to information about available health services and prevention practices, such as proper sanitation and hygiene, may remain weak.<sup>41</sup>



- Ensure that female healthcare workers have equal access to protective equipment as well as equal pay, time off, menstrual hygiene care, childcare and other supports.<sup>42</sup>
- Provide immediate access to water and sanitation services, particularly handwashing stations, soap, and sanitizers, where people lack water and disinfectants.<sup>43</sup> Ensure these facilities are separated by sex and in safe, well-lit locations where women and girls can access them.<sup>44</sup>
- Deliver accurate health messages repeatedly through various mechanisms—cellular networks and apps, television, radio, pamphlets, posters and community-level groups that can reach women, adolescent girls, disabled persons, and others who are difficult to access.<sup>45</sup>
- Ensure that people with underlying diseases get COVID-19 prevention supplies, such as masks and disinfectants, when they receive their medications. Engage communities in identifying people with medication shortages.<sup>46</sup>
- Use alternative methods for contact with patients for monitoring and medication management such as apps and cellular phones.<sup>47</sup> Combine delivery of multi-month prescriptions for anti-retroviral treatment, tuberculosis treatment, malaria prophylaxis, and other medications with COVID-19 outreach at the community and household levels.<sup>48</sup>
- Involve existing female health care workers and local women leaders in decision making to ensure that responses to COVID-19 outbreaks adequately address the needs of women and girls in each community.<sup>49</sup>
- Make testing for COVID and its antibodies free and voluntary for all people and provide no-cost treatments for people unable to pay, particularly displaced persons and women in poverty.<sup>50</sup>

#### Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights

As COVID strains already-weak healthcare systems in lowincome countries, sexual and reproductive health (SRH) services are already being de-prioritized and disrupted.<sup>51</sup> Gender and social norms often restrict women's and girls' mobility and therefore access to SRH services, even prior to the crisis. Due to COVID-19, women's and adolescent girls' ability to access health facilities and/or to visit pharmacies further decreases due to lockdowns, fear of being exposed to COVID, or diversion of services.<sup>52</sup> This means women may not be able to access essential reproductive health care, including contraception, intrapartum care, emergency obstetric and newborn care, clinical care for rape survivors, and prevention and treatment for HIV and other sexually-transmitted infections, all of which can lead to dramatic increases in preventable deaths and injuries.<sup>53</sup>

The COVID-19 pandemic has also disrupted regular supply chains and logistics networks for health care globally, causing delays at all levels in production and manufacturing of urgent health supplies.<sup>54</sup> Increased regulatory barriers impeding imports and exports; challenges with procurement; decreased availability of international and domestic transportation; and interruptions in delivery of commodities to the last mile all impact the availability and accessibility of necessary supplies to meet the growing need for SRH care.<sup>55</sup> An estimated 49 million women in 114 LMICs will stop using contraceptives if the COVID crisis lasts 6 months; for every 3 additional months, 2 million more will stop.<sup>56</sup> This is likely to result in 7 million unintended pregnancies, 1.7 million major obstetric complications, 28,000 additional maternal deaths, 168,000 newborn deaths, and 3.3 million unsafe abortions.<sup>57</sup>

The Ebola outbreak in West Africa resulted in large declines in contraceptive use and family planning visits in Guinea, Liberia ,and Sierra Leone, significantly increasing unplanned pregnancies and severely impacting maternal and newborn health.<sup>58</sup> The eighteen-month outbreak in Guinea, Liberia and, Sierra Leone led to a 75 percent increase in maternal mortality.<sup>59</sup> Sierra Leone's estimated 3,600 maternal and neonatal deaths were close to the number of deaths caused by Ebola in the country.<sup>60</sup> School closures combined with additional barriers to accessing contraception also resulted in adolescent girls, out of school during the epidemic, becoming twice as likely to become pregnant than girls in non-affected areas.<sup>61</sup> Adolescent pregnancy increased by 65 percent in some communities,<sup>62</sup> often meaning that these young mothers would never return to school.<sup>63</sup>



- Define the provision of SRH services as essential and provide continued and flexible funding to ensure the ongoing provision of essential SRH services throughout the global COVID-19 response in line with global standards.<sup>64</sup>
- Provide funding for United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) or a humanitarian exemption to funding restrictions.<sup>65</sup> UNFPA's presence and expertise in managing gender-based violence (GBV) prevention, mitigation, and response make it a key actor in ensuring critical services and supplies reach the communities that often face the greatest barriers to care, including in humanitarian settings.
- Strengthen commodity systems and supply chains to mitigate and address interruptions in contraceptive commodity importation and distribution as soon as they arise and ensure that supplies such as menstrual hygiene, obstetric, and reproductive care products are well-stocked and available at health care facilities.<sup>66</sup>
- Increase investment in flexible and remote training, supervision, and monitoring for providers to ensure continuity of quality care, as well as to ensure the safety of healthcare workers and patients.<sup>67</sup>
- Support telemedicine and community- and home-based SRH care including access to client-centered, remote counseling and access to products such as pregnancy tests, condoms, oral contraceptives, and HIV tests.<sup>68</sup>
- Deliver multi-month supplies of menstrual hygiene kits, contraception, as well as free condoms, preferably at decentralized locations accessible to women.<sup>69</sup>

#### **Gender-Based Violence (GBV)**

Sharp increases in reports of gender-based violence, such as intimate partner violence and violence against children since the pandemic necessitated lockdowns, are now well documented.<sup>70</sup> The reasons for this are many—economic insecurity and poverty-related stress and anxiety, loss of social safety networks, victims' economic dependence on abusers, and limitations on mobility as a result of lockdown measures all exacerbate pre-existing gender norms that drive violence against women and girls.<sup>71</sup> Women with additional challenges, such as those with physical and mental disabilities, experience violence at rates two to three times higher than women on average.<sup>72</sup>

Violence against women and girls since COVID began is also taking new and intensified forms such as harassment of frontline workers, who are predominantly women, and increased child abuse.<sup>73</sup> Abusive partners may use COVID to further control women and children by withholding safety and hygiene items, blocking access to testing and care, threatening abandonment if diagnosed with COVID, denying healthcare coverage, refusal to pay for medical costs, and other tactics.<sup>74</sup>

As in other crisis situations, poor GBV risk mitigation practices by those responding to the crisis can also exacerbate violence, such as quarantine centers lacking sex-segregated facilities or sexual abuse and exploitation committed by response workers or government officials that prey on women's and girls' increased dependence on aid.<sup>75</sup>

As GBV increases as a result of COVID-19 measures, the availability and accessibility of services for survivors is narrowing.<sup>76</sup> Limited funding and strained health care and social services systems due to COVID-19 mean that GBV services are often deprioritized.<sup>77</sup> Available resources such as women's shelters and safe spaces might be converted to COVID response centers.<sup>78</sup>

Even where available, survivors may face gaps in seeking support when they lack information about available services, cannot physically reach services due to strict lockdown measures, or fear contracting COVID-19 where support can be accessed (particularly when GBV responders lack personal protective equipment).<sup>79</sup> In some fragile states and areas where family physical and sexual abuse are rife, this manifests in declines in calls and visits to support services.<sup>80</sup> COVID is also likely to undermine violence prevention programs.<sup>81</sup> UNFPA estimates that in 6 months, there will be 31 million more GBV cases. Experts expect an additional 15 million cases every 3 months the virus causes shutdowns.<sup>82</sup> Female genital mutilation (FGM) is also anticipated to increase by 2 million over the next decade and child marriage by 13 million by 2030.<sup>83</sup>

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

- Governments and donors should recognize GBV prevention and response as lifesaving and essential services within the COVID-19 response and ensure adequate resources to continue and adapt these services. Professionals working to address GBV should be considered first responders and their access to personal protective equipment (PPE) should be prioritized accordingly.<sup>84</sup>
- Services should be accessible, including helplines, shelters, and health and psychosocial services.<sup>85</sup> In areas where movement is restricted, survivors and those at risk of GBV should be permitted to leave their homes to seek assistance.<sup>86</sup> Invest in remote options and other innovative ways for survivors and those at risk to safely report GBV and receive support and information, taking into account a range of constraints women, girls and other at-risk groups may face in accessing information and services.<sup>87</sup> Low-tech solutions could include setting up emergency warning systems in pharmacies and grocery stores or establishing silent/non-verbal alerts such as code words, whistles/alarms and placing innocuous objects outside the home.<sup>88</sup> Digital resources, however, must account for gaps in access to technology and do no harm principles, particularly for GBV survivors whose access to mobile phones, internet, and other modes of communication may be limited by abusers.<sup>89</sup> It is critical that all mechanisms and systems that promote reporting also ensure follow-up support and services for survivors.<sup>90</sup>
- Integrate GBV risk mitigation, response, and referral practices into all COVID-19 response planning.<sup>91</sup> Consider the gender dimensions of all shelter-in-place and quarantine actions, particularly the increased risk of gender-based violence against women and children.<sup>92</sup> Train frontline workers to recognize the signs of violence and discreetly share information with potential victims and/or appropriately refer them to GBV response services.<sup>93</sup> Ensure all frontline staff and volunteers are trained on psychological first aid (PFA) and how to safely and ethically relay information on available GBV services.<sup>94</sup> Update GBV referral pathways and ensure that key communities and service providers are aware of new procedures.<sup>95</sup>
- Engage women and local community-based actors in designing prevention and response activities. Get funding directly to women's organizations and local NGOs that are on the frontlines of responding to GBV.<sup>96</sup> Community-designed reporting and security methods are effective in preventing GBV and helping survivors access culturally appropriate support.<sup>97</sup>
- Adapt available resources to support GBV survivors. For example, shelters can work with hotels to provide temporary emergency housing for women and children experiencing violence. However, adaptation should ensure that any new service providers have the specific skills and resources required to appropriately respond to GBV.<sup>98</sup> Also ensure services are tailored to meet the needs of all persons vulnerable to GBV, including persons with disabilities, children and youth, older persons, and LGBTIQ and gender non-conforming persons.<sup>99</sup>

- Target immediate income/livelihood support to women and girls at risk of violence.<sup>100</sup> Research has shown that cash transfers, when implemented properly, can reduce controlling behaviors by abusers and reduce violent episodes by 6-7 percent.<sup>101</sup>
- Take a zero tolerance approach to GBV incidents by ensuring access to legal services and judicial response for GBV survivors, e.g. by extending emergency protection orders.<sup>102</sup> Institute strong policies to prevent, mitigate, and address sexual exploitation and abuse (SEA) by COVID service providers.<sup>103</sup> It is critical that perpetrators do not have (or feel they have) impunity during the COVID-19 crisis. A reduction in police response, enforcement and detainment of abusers was documented during the Ebola crisis.<sup>104</sup>



#### COVID Testing, Contact Tracing and Gender-Based Violence

## "He said if I started coughing, he was throwing me out in the street and that I could die alone in a hospital room."<sup>216</sup>

Women being abused are not safe at home and they are not safe if they get COVID. This fact has important implications for COVID testing and contact tracing.

A common abusive behavior is strictly monitoring a partner's interactions outside the home. If abusers demand to join calls from contact tracers, victims may refuse to respond or not disclose their actual contacts. Simply receiving a call from unknown male can trigger a violent episode.

Abused women who have symptoms of COVID may be reluctant to get tested if they fear harm or abandonment. Abusers may also refuse women health coverage or money for testing and treatment as a means of control.

Contact tracing should be available via internet and call-in phone numbers so those under the threat of violence can respond discreetly when they are safe. Contact tracers should receive instruction in identifying people at risk of violence and refer these cases to GBV-trained tracers, as well as provide women with alternate methods for reporting contacts.

Testing should be confidential, free to all, and available at places women normally frequent, such as food markets.

Extra care should be taken to ensure that women and gender minorities, especially young people, have information on how to access emergency shelter and assistance in case testing or contact tracing precipitates a violent episode. This information should be embedded in general COVID materials to avoid alerting abusers.

#### **Women's Economic Empowerment**

Women living in poverty will endure specific economic impacts as a result of COVID, largely due to their overrepresentation in the informal economy, the increase in their unpaid care burdens, and the particular hardships facing female entrepreneurs.<sup>105</sup> Evidence from past economic crises show long-term negative impacts on women's incomes long after domestic growth rates return.<sup>106</sup>

Women workers are 92 percent of those in the informal sector, which often lacks social and legal protections in most countries.<sup>107</sup> Due to restrictions on movement and disruptions in the economy, job losses are heavy in industries such as the service, hospitality, tourism, and childcare sectors, all of which women dominate.<sup>108</sup> COVID-19 will also aggravate the persistent gender wage gap and gender-based violence, which will have an impact on their economic health.<sup>109</sup> Women have much lower, if any, pensions, retirement savings or other assets to cushion shocks and may turn to exploitative work in order to survive.<sup>110</sup> Many female-headed households depend on remittances, which the World Bank expects will drop by nearly 20 percent.<sup>111</sup> Research shows that remittances tend to be used on nutritious food and education, areas that women invest their resources into most heavily.<sup>112</sup>

As a result of COVID-19 reflecting underlying gender norms, women and girls will experience a dramatic increase in their unpaid care burdens.<sup>113</sup> Women and girls already perform three times the amount of unpaid care work in homes and in their communities as men, which accounts for an estimated \$10.8 trillion each year.<sup>114</sup> COVID-19 is expected to increase this burden further as schools close and family/community members require additional care as a result of the disease.<sup>115</sup> This will limit women's and girls' ability to pursue paid work, education/ skills, and other economic opportunities or lead employers to terminate them for lower productivity in the workplace.<sup>116</sup>

COVID-19 will also reduce economic opportunities for female entrepreneurs.<sup>117</sup> Market closures, disruptions in global trading, and the collapse of supply chains will have disproportionate impacts on female-headed businesses and female farmers.<sup>118</sup> During the 2014-2016 West Africa Ebola crisis, for example, restrictions on movement of goods and people led to women entrepreneurs facing income losses, being unable to pay back loans, and losing capital.<sup>119</sup> Enduring gaps in financial inclusion will have strong ramifications as women entrepreneurs continue to be considered "high-risk" for bank services, formal loans, and credit.<sup>120</sup>

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

- Fund and implement programming to address the specific economic impacts on women globally, especially lower income, migrant, and other marginalized women.<sup>121</sup> Ensure COVID response initiatives to address economic impacts include measures for part-time or informal workers, smallholder farmers, women and girls who work full-time from home, and female-headed households.<sup>122</sup> This includes ensuring fair wages, decent work conditions, and other protections are in place for workers both in the workplace as well as those working from home.<sup>123</sup>
- Support women as entrepreneurs and workers through stop-gap financing measures to firms experiencing losses due to COVID-19.<sup>124</sup> Measures should include resources for women entrepreneurs to pivot their businesses to e-commerce, promote remote working, and expand into high-demand markets due to COVID-19, as well as funding for financing and capital to support economic recovery. These efforts must include outreach to women and other marginalized populations to ensure they have meaningful access to financing, capital, and other financial services at the same rate as men.<sup>125</sup>
- Support re-training of women in higher paying industries and social enterprises, green technology, healthcare and sustainable energy infrastructure in underserved areas and environmental management.<sup>126</sup> Train community-based primary healthcare workers to sustain access after COVID.<sup>127</sup>
- Expand social safety nets (paid leave, income support through cash transfers, housing assistance, and food access, paid childcare) with an emphasis on women, female-headed households and marginalized populations.<sup>128</sup>

- Utilize mobile cash transfers and cellular technology to enroll participants and link to them to mobile banking.<sup>129</sup> Ensure that multiple people in households can access benefits, not just male heads.<sup>130</sup>
- Place a moratorium on evictions, foreclosures and debt collection.<sup>131</sup> Stop requirement payments and rents to cities by vendors.<sup>132</sup> Communicate this suspension via radio and flyers reflecting all local languages and literacy levels.
- Consider the use of savings groups such as village savings and loans associations (VSLAs) to form crisis savings funds for the community and disseminate information to community members.<sup>133</sup> Support the adaptation of savings groups' work under COVID-related restrictions, such as by facilitating their use of digital technology.<sup>134</sup>
- Invest in formalizing the care economy, which will boost women's labor participation, grow tax receipts and drive economic growth.<sup>135</sup> A modeling study in the UK found that if 2 percent of GDP was invested into care industries it would create 1.5 million new jobs, twice as many than investing the same amount in construction projects.<sup>136</sup>
- Consider public works projects that enroll people in poverty in disseminating COVID-related information, and possibly
  other services, to their communities.<sup>137</sup> Public cash-for-work programs can boost incomes, lower unemployment and
  address information needs during the COVID crisis.<sup>138</sup>.
- Invest in approaches that actively encourage men and boys to take on greater shares of unpaid care work.<sup>139</sup> Messages on sharing household care can be combined with health outreach, cash transfers or cash-for-work programs.<sup>140</sup>



#### **Food Security and Nutrition**

COVID-19 may cascade into a global food crisis doubling the number of people facing acute food crisis if not proactively managed by governments and multilateral agencies.<sup>141</sup> Mobility restrictions and supply chain disruptions are limiting access to food, while lockdowns and market closures are preventing farmers from accessing inputs and markets to sell their goods.<sup>142</sup> Disruptions in access to food coupled with harmful social norms mean that women's and girls' nutrition will suffer. Womenheaded households are the most likely to suffer from food crisis.<sup>143</sup>

COVID-19 will have serious impacts on the livelihoods of women in agriculture and food production. Women provide over 43 percent of the agricultural labor around the world and more than 60 percent in Africa.<sup>144</sup> However, they have consistently lower wages, access to inputs (seeds, tools, fertilizers), information, markets, good land, and irrigation, which is likely to become worse during the COVID crisis.<sup>145</sup> The increase in unpaid care burdens they are facing as a result of COVID will also reduce the time they have to spend on farming and other incomegenerating activities.<sup>146</sup> As agriculture extension services move to digital platforms to accommodate social distancing, women will get left behind in the widening digital divide.<sup>147</sup>

Women and girls also bear a greater brunt of negative consequences from the narrowing of food quantity and accessibility. A combination of disrupted markets, lack of international trade, reduced travel, and mobility restrictions are going to impact people's ability to grow, buy, sell, or prepare the food they need to stay healthy. By the end of 2020, 265 million people are likely to face starvation.<sup>148</sup> Health crises such as Ebola and the Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS) negatively impacted food prices and food access and reduced nutrition, especially for women, children and the elderly.<sup>149</sup> Women-headed households are much more sensitive to food price shocks and shortages than male-headed households, as was shown during the 2007-2008 food crisis.<sup>150</sup>

Women's and girls' nutrition will also be impacted by COVID-19. Women and girls already make up 60 percent of the world's hungry, and when a crisis like COVID-19 hits, they are usually the first to start eating less.<sup>151</sup> With schools shuttered, millions of children that depend on getting a nutritious meal at least once a day will experience even deeper hunger and malnutrition.<sup>152</sup> This increase in hunger also means women and girls having fewer nutrients vital for boosting their immunity to fight the disease.<sup>153</sup> Globally, women do 85-90 percent of the household cooking and perform most of the grocery shopping.<sup>154</sup> Women invest more of their money in buying food than men do.<sup>155</sup> In most contexts, women are also almost entirely responsible for child nutrition.<sup>156</sup> In 118 low- and middle- income countries, it is estimated that in the next six months, an additional 1.2 million children may die before their fifth birthday, and 56,700 more maternal deaths may occur, due to reductions in health service coverage and child wasting.157



- Urgently scale up safety nets and provide immediate access to foods through cash, voucher, or in-kind assistance that support a diverse, nutritious diet that goes beyond staples.<sup>158</sup> Prioritize the most vulnerable, including female-headed households, pregnant and lactating women, children that depend on school feeding programs, and agricultural and informal sector workers.<sup>159</sup>
- Use seed vouchers, cash vouchers, support to savings groups, digital technology, and other measures to ensure smallscale farmers, especially women, can access key resources, like inputs, information, storage, and market linkages.<sup>160</sup>
- Locate seed, input, and distribution centers and collection centers for harvests closer to small-scale farmers and those in need of food assistance to reduce the need for mobility.<sup>161</sup> Space timing of food and supply distribution and support alternatives to communal cooking spaces to avoid large gatherings.<sup>162</sup>
- Design COVID response programs to boost food security with women's and girls' needs in mind. Agricultural supports, programs, and subsidies should explicitly target women producers.<sup>163</sup> Specifically consider women in markets, agricultural value chains, and business to support recovery.<sup>164</sup> Set specific targets for at least 50 percent of agricultural support, programs, or subsidies to reach women farmers.<sup>165</sup> Ensure women food producers have access to information on available services.<sup>166</sup>
- Monitor food prices carefully and avoid economic measures that disrupt flows of food across borders or reduce availability of food on the global market.<sup>167</sup>

#### **Humanitarian Situations**

The effects of COVID-19 will be magnified for the nearly 168 million people around the world who are in need of humanitarian assistance and protection.<sup>168</sup> At particular risk are the more than 70 million people—half of whom are women—who have been forced to flee their homes due to persecution, conflict, violence, and human rights violations.<sup>169</sup> Many of the displaced are sheltering in countries with weak water, sanitation, and hygiene infrastructure and lack access to health services.<sup>170</sup> Refugee and internally displaced populations in camps and informal settlements are acutely vulnerable, as overcrowding or exposure can exacerbate infection rates.<sup>171</sup> Restrictions on entry, travel, and freedom of movement can also have adverse effects on populations on the move, restricting their access to safety and protection.<sup>172</sup>

Emergencies disproportionately affect women and girls. They may face more difficulty than men and boys in accessing health services and education, meeting their hygiene needs, finding economic/livelihood opportunities, and are more likely to face increased food shortages and malnutrition.<sup>173</sup> Women and girls are also particularly vulnerable to genderbased violence in humanitarian contexts, and COVID-19 will intensify the problem.<sup>174</sup> For example, the West Africa Ebola outbreak exacerbated underlying harmful gender norms in an already complex environment, leading to increased household violence, sexual violence, and sexual exploitation and abuse by aid workers.<sup>175</sup>

Those who remain in conflict-affected areas also face dire circumstances. Conflict often interrupts health services, results in damaged health infrastructure, and impedes the ability of health care workers to conduct disease surveillance.<sup>176</sup> Systematic and targeted attacks on health infrastructure and aid workers by parties to conflicts, politicization of aid and service delivery, and restricted humanitarian access also exacerbate the spread and impact of infectious diseases.<sup>177</sup>

Although the humanitarian community has improved response efficacy, needs are growing and far surpass resources. Preparing for and responding to the spread of COVID-19 will stretch—or in some cases, redirect—these resources, while the effects of the pandemic and related movement restrictions are hampering humanitarian access and capacity. The vulnerable people amidst these crises will continue to bear the brunt of the gaps.

- Continue humanitarian service provision as much and as safely as possible, accounting for the impacts of movement restrictions and social distancing measures.<sup>178</sup> Where possible, continue GBV prevention and response, psychosocial support, and WASH programming, along with the provision of food, nutrition, and hygiene commodities and shelter support.<sup>179</sup>
- Donors should not reduce foreign assistance, including humanitarian assistance.<sup>180</sup> Funding for existing humanitarian emergencies remains critically important, and will need to be supplemented to respond to the COVID crisis.
- National governments should ensure that aid and health care workers have access to all populations in need, including across borders, to accommodate surges in health personnel and allow the transport of humanitarian and medical commodities as needed for preparedness and response activities.<sup>181</sup>
- Implement gender-based violence protections in humanitarian settings as set out by the <u>Interagency Standing</u> <u>Committee (IASC) Interim Guidance on COVID.<sup>182</sup></u>
- Ensure each humanitarian cluster has a gender focal point specifically for COVID response and use the IASC Gender and Age Marker Tool or its equivalent.<sup>183</sup>
- Ensure front line workers have support systems, including psychosocial assistance and time off to manage the additional stress COVID will create.<sup>184</sup>
- Continue or commence work to find durable solutions for internally displaced persons and refugees that include adequate shelter and livelihood opportunities and that account for particular vulnerabilities related to age, disability, and gender.<sup>185</sup>

#### Education

During crises, girls' education is likely to be disrupted with school closures and girls being taken out of school to take on caregiving roles.<sup>186</sup> The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) estimates that 89 percent of children are out of school due to COVID closures, including 743 million girls.<sup>187</sup> Particularly in areas where social norms lead to fewer girls enrolling and remaining in school, temporary disruption in schooling as a result of COVID-19 may lead to permanent removal.<sup>188</sup> This can result from families being unable to pay school fees due to loss of income, the loss of educational infrastructure such as teachers, or practices such as child marriage.<sup>189</sup>

Disruptions in education will likely lead to an increase in harmful practices such as child, early, and forced marriage, female genital mutilation/cutting, and increased exposure to exploitative employment or transactional sex.<sup>190</sup> The economic impacts of girls' lack of schooling will affect their future earnings; for each additional year of schooling, females earn about 11 percent more income.<sup>191</sup> The loss of school also impacts girls' ability to access information about COVID-19 prevention and services and pathways for them to report abuse.<sup>192</sup>

Even when their schools are not closed, girls can find it increasingly difficult to balance their caregiving burdens with education, which can lead to increased absenteeism or to them leaving school completely.<sup>193</sup> Pregnant girls or adolescent mothers may not be allowed back into school or choose not to return.<sup>194</sup> Gaps in schooling are particularly damaging for adolescent girls at the crucial junction between primary and secondary education.<sup>195</sup>

Temporary school closures can have acutely negative effects for displaced or refugee children for whom school can provide a safe space for interaction with peers, psychosocial support, and even a reliable source of food.<sup>196</sup>

- Move adolescent girls' programs to virtual formats, even if only text or voice-based platforms, especially in humanitarian situations in which keeping girls connected is even more vital.<sup>197</sup> Provide free internet access for all households during school closings and engage parents in ensuring that both girls and boys have equal access to and time allotted for distance learning methods.<sup>198</sup> Account for differences in access to digital resources and increased protection risks associated with online bullying and harassment.<sup>199</sup>
- Where computers and smart phones are not available, use low-tech gender-responsive approaches such as sending educational materials home and radio/television broadcasts.<sup>200</sup> Ensure that programs are available at multiple times to accommodate self-paced learning and girls who must support household care.<sup>201</sup>
- Include messages on the importance of educating girls and sharing household duties among all members during this time in which girls can easily be pulled away from education to care for ill family members.<sup>202</sup>
- Engage communities in ensuring that all girls return to school post-COVID, including those that may have become pregnant during the crisis.<sup>203</sup> Provide accelerated learning if necessary.<sup>204</sup>



#### Women's Leadership and Participation in Decision-Making

Evidence demonstrates that women active in local government bodies tend to advance women's and social issues.<sup>205</sup> Women's interaction with their communities and their roles as caregivers place them in prime position to identify the core needs and gaps during COVID.<sup>206</sup> Women-led community organizations, collectives, saving groups and village associations should be considered frontline responders who are well-positioned to convey accurate information on COVID-19 and the response resources available; access hard-to-reach community members; provide culturally appropriate and gender-sensitive support on issues such as gender-based violence; and help design approaches that address the needs of their community as it responds to COVID-19.<sup>207</sup> Yet, women and girls have been largely excluded from decisionmaking at every level, from the household to community, local, and national bodies, as well as in all levels of public health leadership.<sup>208</sup> For instance, very few national or local COVID task forces include any women, which effectively excludes them from discussions to identify core needs, capacities, and responses.<sup>209</sup> A review in 2018 found that only 56 percent of humanitarian crisis contexts held at least one consultation with women's groups.<sup>210</sup>

As a result, response measures may not fully account for how COVID-19 affects women and girls. For example, excluding women from economic discussions will mean that recovery measures do not address the needs of women who work in the informal economy or who perform unpaid domestic care work.<sup>211</sup>



- Engage with existing informal and formal social networks such as women's groups, community groups, civil society organizations, and women's rights organizations to support their efforts as first responders and their solidarity efforts to prevent social isolation.<sup>212</sup>
- Employ quotas, targets, and other mechanisms at global, national, and local levels to meaningfully engage women, adolescent girls, and marginalized groups in leadership and decision-making roles throughout the COVID-19 response and recovery.<sup>213</sup>
- Enlist and support local organizations that serve women, girls, and marginalized persons to gather data, share accurate COVID information, and distribute supplies to people unable to leave their homes. Involve gender and social inclusion experts that can bring insights in how to serve hard-to-reach and at-risk populations.
- Ensure that inter-organizational and inter-agency coordinating and decision-making bodies are gender balanced and inclusive.<sup>214</sup>
- As part of the financial support for COVID-19 response, donors should direct funding to women's organizations that work to advance gender equality, to ensure that programs are responsive to the needs and priorities of women and girls, promote the localization of humanitarian assistance, and support women's and girls' leadership and participation.<sup>215</sup>
- Expand access to leadership training for women as part of post-COVID economic recovery efforts.

### Conclusion

COVID-19 will have ramifications on global communities far beyond the immediate shocks we are already witnessing and much deeper than those impacts that are most apparent. The unique effects of this pandemic on women and girls reflect generations of underlying discrimination, abuse, and exploitation that will not be undone easily – however, to ensure that COVID-19 does not roll back decades of progress towards ending poverty, achieving gender equality, and building strong systems for development and humanitarian assistance based in social justice, the United States and the global community must make concerted, targeted efforts to comprehensively respond to COVID-19.

## Endnotes

1. World Bank Group (WBG), Poverty Overview. April 16, 2020. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/poverty/overview.

2. Ibid.

3. United Nations (UN), Policy Brief: The Impact of COVID-19 on Women, April 9, 2020, https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/ sections/library/publications/2020/policy-brief-the-impact-of-COVID-19-on-women-en.pdf?la=en&vs=1406.; Oxfam, Why the majority of the world's poor are women, 2020, https://www.oxfam.org/en/why-majority-worlds-poor-are-women; World Bank Group (WBG) et al., Gender Differences in Poverty and Household Composition through the Life-cycle: A Global Perspective, March 2018, http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/135731520343670750/pdf/WPS8360.pdf; Oxford Committee for Famine Relief (Oxfam), Dignity Not Destitution: An 'Economic Rescue Plan For All' to tackle the Coronavirus crisis and rebuild a more equal world, April 9, 2020, https://assets.oxfamamerica.org/media/documents/mb-dignity\_not\_destitution-an-economic-rescue-plan-for-all-090420-en.pdf.

4. Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE) and Debbie Landis, *Gender-Based Violence (GBV) and COVID-19: The Complexities of Responding to "The Shadow Pandemic"*, comp. Amy O'Toole, et al., May 2020, <u>https://www.care-international.org/files/files/GBV and COVID-19 Policy Brief FINAL.pdf;</u> World Health Organization (WHO), Global Health Workforce Network, and Women in Global Health (WGH), *Delivered by Women, Led by Men: A Gender and Equity Analysis of the Global Health and Social Workforce*, 2019, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311322/9789241515467-eng.pdf?ua=1</u>.

5. Cooperative Assistance for Relief Everywhere (CARE) et al., *Global Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19*, March 2020, <a href="https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/global\_rga\_covid\_rdm\_3.31.20\_final.pdf">https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/global\_rga\_covid\_rdm\_3.31.20\_final.pdf</a>; Coalition to End Violence Against Women and Girls Globally, *COVID-19 and Gender-Based Violence Globally:* U.S. Government Response Must Address Gender-Based Violence, comp. Aapta Garg, et al., 2020, <a href="https://www.endgbvnow.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/GBV-Coalition-COVID-Brief.pdf">https://www.endgbvnow.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/GBV-Coalition-COVID-Brief.pdf</a>; Plan International, John von Ahlen, *COVID-19: The Impact on Girls*, 2020, <a href="https://plan-international.org/publications/COVID-19-impact-girls">https://plan-international.org/publications/COVID-19: The Impact on Girls, 2020, <a href="https://plan-international.org/publications/COVID-19-impact-girls">https://plan-international.org/publications/COVID-19: The Impact on Girls, 2020, <a href="https://plan-international.org/publications/COVID-19-impact-girls">https://plan-international.org/publications/COVID-19: The Impact on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Civil Society Call to Action, April 2020, <a href="https://publications/cov/10-417.pdf">https://publications/cov/10-417.pdf</a>; UN, Policy Brief; The Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition to John Barsa et al., "Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition Community Letter to USAID on COVID-19: Gender-Equality and Women's Empowerment, "May 1, 2020, <a href="https://nttps://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/CVID-19-and-child-early-and-forced-marriage: an agenda for action, 2020, <a href="https://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs://ntbs.org/system/content/uploads/2020/04/CVID-19

Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE), Mareen Buschmann, and Sarah Fuhrman, COVID-19 Could Condemn Women To Decades of 6 Poverty: Implications of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Women and Girls' Economic Justice and Rights, comp. Hester Le Roux, et al., April 2020, https://insights. careinternational.org.uk/media/k2/attachments/CARE - Implications of COVID-19 on WEE 300420 1.pdf.; CARE, CARE, Gendered Implications of COVID-19 Outbreaks in Development and Humanitarian Settings, 2020, https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/gendered\_implications\_of\_COVID-19 - full\_paper.pdf; PAI, Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; Coalition to End Violence Against Women and Girls Globally, COVID-19 and Gender-Based; Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE), Gender Implications of COVID-19 Outbreaks in Development and Humanitarian Settinas, 2020, https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/gendered\_implications\_of\_COVID-19 - full\_paper.pdf; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis; World Bank Group (WBG), Gender Dimensions of the COVID-19 Pandemic, April 16, 2020, http://documents.worldbank. org/curated/en/618731587147227244/pdf/Gender-Dimensions-of-the-COVID-19-Pandemic.pdf; The Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition to John Barsa et al., "Big Ideas."; CARE and Landis, Gender-Based Violence.; IASC, Inter-agency GBV Guidelines Implementation Support Team, and GBV Guidelines Reference Group, Identifying & Mitigating.; Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child; African Women's Development and Communication Network (FEMNET), #InclusiveLockdown : Key Practical RECOMMENDATIONS by African Women & Girls, 2020, https://femnet.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/InclusiveLockdown-Keys-RECOMMENDATIONSby-African-women-and-girls.pdf; CARE, Buschmann, and Fuhrman, COVID-19 Could.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19; PAI, Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; WBG, Gender Dimensions.; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.; IASC, Inter-agency GBV Guidelines Implementation Support Team, and GBV Guidelines Reference Group, Identifying & Mitigating.; FEMNET, #InclusiveLockdown.

7. PAI, Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts.; CARE and Landis, Gender-Based Violence.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; Center for Global Development (CGD) et al., Pandemics and Violence Against Women and Children, April 1, 2020, https://www.cgdev.org/publication/pandemics-and-violence-against-womenand-children.; MADRE et al., From Global Coordination to Local Strategies: A Practical Approach to Prevent, Address and Document Domestic Violence under COVID-19, 2020, https://www.wilpf.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/MADRE-Domestic-Violence-Under-COVID-19-Briefing-Paper 4.21.20.pdf.; Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; Women in Informal Employment (WIEGO) and Jenna Harvey, "How cities can support informal workers: COVID-19 and beyond," WIEGO, last modified April 14, 2020, https://www.wiego.org/blog/how-cities-can-support-informal-workers-COVID-19-and-beyond.; FEMNET, #InclusiveLockdown; Girls Not Brides USA, COVID-19 and Adolescent Girls: Ensuring the U.S. Government's Response Prioritizes the Needs of Child Brides and Girls at Risk of Child Marriage, 2020, https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/GNBUSA-COVID-19-Policy-Brief\_Final.pdf.

8. CARE and Landis, *Gender-Based Violence*.; Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE), COVID19, Food & Nutrition Security, and Gender Equality: How women, gender equality, and social norms are critical to recovering from the COVID19 crisis—and building back better, April 29, 2020, https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/covid\_food\_security\_and\_gender\_equality.pdf; CARE, Buschmann, and Fuhrman, COVID-19 Could.; The Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition to John Barsa et al., "Big Ideas."; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; MenEngage and Sonke Gender Justice, An Equity-Based Approach To Dealing With the COVID-19 Pandemic, 2020, http://menengage.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/EQUITY-BASED-APPROACH-COVID-19, pdf; Save the Children, 8 Ways to Ensure Gender Equality Is at the Center of Responses to COVID – 19, 2020, https://www.savethechildren.org/us/what-we-do/emergency-response/coronavirus-outbreak/gender-equality-coronavirus-response; PAI, Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.; Girls Not Brides USA, COVID-19 and Adolescent; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; UN, Policy Brief; CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.

9. CARE, *COVID 19, Food & Nutrition*.; CARE and Landis, *Gender-Based Violence*.; CARE, Buschmann, and Fuhrman, *COVID-19 Could*.; Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE) et al., "The Importance of Acting on Grand Bargain Commitments for a Meaningful Focus on Gender in Cash and Voucher Assistance Responses to the COVID-19 Pandemic," news release, May 2020, <u>https://www.calpnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/ninja-forms/2/Gender-Cash-Sub-WG-COVID\_2-pager-200514.pdf</u>.; CWEEE, *COVID-19 and Women's Economic.*; Oxfam, *Dignity not Destitution*.; WIEGO and Harvey, "How cities," WIEGO.; FEMNET, *#InclusiveLockdown.*; World Bank Group and Gender Innovation Lab (GIL), *Supporting Women Throughout the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Emergency Response and Economic Recovery*, May 2020, <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/33612/Supporting-Women-Throughout-the-Coronavirus-COVID-19-Emergency-Response-and-Economic-Recovery.pdf?sequence=5&isAllowed=y.; UN, Policy Brief.</u>

10. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Ana Paula de la O Campos, and Elisabeth Garner, *Women's resilience to food price volatility:* A policy response, May 2012, <a href="http://www.fao.org/3/i3617e/i3617e.pdf">http://www.fao.org/3/i3617e/i3617e.pdf</a>; World Food Programme (WFP), The potential of cash-based interventions to promote gender equality and women's empowerment: A multi-country study, February 2019, <a href="https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-0000102755/download/">https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-0000102755/download/</a>.

- 11. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.
- 12. WBG and GIL, Supporting Women.
- 13. CARE et al., "The Importance."

14. CARE and Landis, *Gender-Based Violence*.; Call to Action on Protection from Gender-Based Violence in Emergencies, *Joint Statement on Gender-Based Violence & COVID-19*, April 29, 2020, https://lac32146-ecc0-406e-be7d-301d317d8317.filesusr.com/ugd/1b9009\_de85e8269c1d47f6b175e6d304102871.pdf.

15. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.

16. CARE and Landis, Gender-Based Violence.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.

17. FAR, "Call for a Feminist COVID-19 Policy," FAR, last modified May 28, 2020, <u>http://feministallianceforrights.org/blog/2020/03/20/action-call-for-a-feminist-COVID-19-policy/</u>; Girls Not Brides, *COVID-19 and child.*; Oxfam, *Dignity not Destitution*.

18. FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; UN, *Policy Brief*; Human Rights Watch (HRW), "COVID-19: A Human Rights Checklist," Human Rights Watch, last modified 2020, <u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/14/COVID-19-human-rights-checklist.</u>; Oxfam, *Dignity not Destitution*.

19. Front Line Defenders, "Crisis: COVID-19 & Impact on Human Rights Defenders," Front Line Defenders, last modified 2020, <a href="https://www.frontlinedefenders.org/en/campaign/COVID-19-attacks-hrds-time-pandemic">https://www.frontlinedefenders.org/en/campaign/COVID-19-attacks-hrds-time-pandemic</a>.

20. Global Health 5050, "Sex, gender and COVID-19: overview and resources: Tracking differences in COVID-19 illness and death among women and men," Global Health 5050, last modified 2020, https://globalhealth5050.org/covid19/.

21. Maggie Koerth, "Why Are More Men Than Women Dying Of COVID-19?," FiveThirtyEight, last modified April 30, 2020, <a href="https://fivethirtyeight.com/features/why-are-more-men-than-women-dying-of-COVID-19/">https://fivethirtyeight.com/features/</a> why-are-more-men-than-women-dying-of-COVID-19/.

22. World Health Organization (WHO) et al., *Gender equity in the health workforce: Analysis of 104 countries: Health Workforce Working paper 1*, March 2019, <a href="https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311314/WHO-HIS-HWF-Gender-WP1-2019.1-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311314/WHO-HIS-HWF-Gender-WP1-2019.1-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</a>.

23. WBG, Gender Dimensions.

24. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; World Health Organization (WHO), Global Health Workforce Network, and Women in Global Health, Delivered by Women.

25. During the Ebola outbreak in Nigeria, male doctors received PPE while female nurses did not. Olufunmilayo I. Fawole et al., *Gender dimensions to the Ebola outbreak in Nigeria*, January 2016, <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5452690/</u>.; WBG, *Gender Dimensions*.

26. CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; PAI, Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.; Save the Children, 8 Ways;

27. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.

28. Ibid.

29. WBG, Gender Dimensions.

30. Clean Cooking Alliance, COVID-19, Air Pollution, and Cooking: A Deadly Connection, 2020, https://www.cleancookingalliance.org/binary-data/RESOURCE/ file/000/000/589-1.pdf.

31. Clean Cooking Alliance, *COVID-19*.; A recent Harvard study showed that a small increase in fine particulate matter is associated with a greater risk of death from COVID. A SARS study from China found that patients were more than 2 times more likely to die if they came from cities with high pollution: Xiao Wu et al., *Exposure to air pollution and COVID-19 mortality in the United States: A nationwide cross-sectional study*, April 24, 2020, <u>https://projects.iq.harvard.edu/files/covid-pm/files/pm\_and\_covid\_mortality\_med.pdf</u>.; Lisa Friedman, "New Research Links Air Pollution to Higher Coronavirus Death Rates," The New York Times, last modified April 7, 2020, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/07/climate/air-pollution-coronavirus-covid.html</u>.; Neela Banerjee, "Q&A: A Harvard Expert on Environment and Health Discusses Possible Ties Between COVID and Climate," InsideClimate News, last modified March 12, 2020, <u>https:// insideclimatenews.org/news/11032020/coronavirus-harvard-doctor-climate-change-public-health</u>.

32. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

33. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; Women Enabled International (WEI) et al., Statement on Rights at the Intersection of Gender and Disability during COVID-19, April 9, 2020, https://womenenabled.org/blog/statement-on-COVID-19-for-endorsement/.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

34. United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) et al., Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Family Planning and Ending Gender-based Violence, Female Genital Mutilation and Child Marriage: Pandemic threatens achievement of the Transformative Results committed to by UNFPA, April 27, 2020, <a href="https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/COVID-19\_impact\_brief\_for\_UNFPA\_24\_April\_2020\_1.pdf">https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/COVID-19\_impact\_brief\_for\_UNFPA\_24\_April\_2020\_1.pdf</a>.

35. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19

36. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic; Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE) and Nidhi Kapur, Gender Analysis: Prevention and

Response to Ebola Virus Disease in the Democratic Republic of Congo, January 2020, <a href="https://www.care-international.org/files/files/Ebola\_Gender\_Analysis\_English\_v2.pdf">https://www.care-international.org/files/files/Ebola\_Gender\_Analysis\_English\_v2.pdf</a>; Caitlin Boyce, "Are women and girls more vulnerable to tuberculosis and malaria?," United Nations Development Programme, last modified March 23, 2016, <a href="https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/blog/2016/3/23/Are-women-and-girls-more-vulnerable-to-tuberculosis-and-malaria.html">https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/blog/2016/3/23/Are-women-and-girls-more-vulnerable-to-tuberculosis-and-malaria.html</a>; World Health Organization (WHO), "Malaria," World Health Organization, last modified January 14, 2020, <a href="https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/malaria">https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/malaria</a>; PEPFAR, PEPFAR, PEPFAR Technical Guidance.

37. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR), *PEPFAR Technical Guidance in Context of COVID-19 Pandemic*, April 24, 2020, <u>https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/04.24.2020-PEPFAR-Guidance-During-COVID-19.pdf</u>.

38. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

39. Gender-related barriers to care may include men's relatively greater household-decision making power and control over household finances limiting women's ability to access health services.

40. Davies and Bennet, A gendered.

41. CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.

42. CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; Save the Children, 8 Ways.; Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child; WEI et al., Statement on Rights.

43. CARE et al., *Global Rapid Gender Analysis.*; PAI, *Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts.*; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; FEMNET, *#InclusiveLockdown.*; WIEGO and Harvey, "How cities," WIEGO.

44. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; CARE and Kapur, Gender Analysis.; WIEGO and Harvey, "How Cities," WEIGO.

45. CARE and Kapur, Gender Analysis.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; FEMNET, #InclusiveLockdown.

46. PEPFAR, PEPFAR Technical Guidance.

47. Ibid.

48. Irene A. Kretchy, Michelle Asiedu-Danso, and James-Paul Kretchy, *Medication management and adherence during the COVID-19 pandemic: Perspectives and experiences from low-and middle-income countries*, April 15, 2020, <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7158799/</u>.

49. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

50. Refugees International and Devon Cone, "Gender Matters: COVID-19'S Outsized Impact on Displaced Women and Girls," Refugees International, last modified May 7, 2020, <u>https://www.refugeesinternational.org/reports/2020/5/4/gender-matters-COVID-19s-outsized-impact-on-displaced-women-and-girls</u>; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; WBG, *Gender Dimensions*.

51. International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF), Fabian Cataldo, "COVID-19: Amplifying the need for rapid progress towards Universal Health Coverage," International Planned Parenthood Federation, last modified May 1, 2020, https://www.ippf.org/blogs/COVID-19-amplifying-need-rapid-progress-towardsuniversal-health-coverage.; United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), COVID-19: A Gender Lens: Protecting Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights, and Promoting Gender Equality, March 2020, https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/COVID-19\_A\_Gender\_Lens\_Guidance\_Note.pdf.

52. Guttmacher Institute et al., Estimates of the Potential Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Sexual and Reproductive Health In Low- and Middle-Income Countries, 2020, https://www.guttmacher.org/journals/ipsrh/2020/04/estimates-potential-impact-COVID-19-pandemic-sexual-and-reproductive-health.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; United Nations Population Fund UNFPA et al., Impact of the COVID-19.; United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), "Not just hotlines and mobile phones: GBV Service provision during COVID-19," UNICEF, last modified 2020, https://www.unicef.org/media/68086/file/GBV%20 Service%20Provision%20During%20C0VID-19.pdf.

53. International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF) and Cataldo, "COVID-19: Amplifying the need," International Planned Parenthood Federation; International Planned Parenthood Federation, "Contraception and COVID-19: Disrupted supply and access," International Planned Parenthood Federation, last modified April 15, 2020, https://www.ippf.org/blogs/contraception-and-COVID-19-disrupted-supply-and-access.;

International Planned Parenthood Federation, "COVID-19 and the rise of gender-based violence," International Planned Parenthood Federation, last modified April 22, 2020, https://www.ippf.org/blogs/COVID-19-and-rise-gender-based-violence.

54. IPPF, "Contraception and COVID-19," International Planned Parenthood Federation; Guttmacher Institute et al., *Estimates of the Potential.*; UNFPA et al., *Impact of the COVID-19*.

- 55. UNFPA et al., Impact of the COVID-19.
- 56. Guttmacher Institute et al., Estimates of the Potential.

57. Ibid.

58. Sara E. Davies and Belinda Bennet, A gendered human rights analysis of Ebola and Zika: locating gender in global health emergencies, August 31, 2016, https://academic.oup.com/ia/article/92/5/1041/2688120.

59. Ibid.

60. Ibid.

61. WBG and GIL, Supporting Women.; Davies and Bennet, A gendered.; Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child; Girls Not Brides USA, COVID-19 and Adolescent.

62. WBG, Gender Dimensions.

63. CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.

64. Both the 2018: Sphere Association, *The Sphere Handbook: Humanitarian Charter and Minimum Standards in Humanitarian Response*, fourth ed. (Geneva, Switzerland: Sphere Association, 2018), <a href="https://spherestandards.org/handbook-2018/">https://spherestandards.org/handbook-2018/</a> and the 2018 Angel M. Foster et al., *The 2018 Inter-agency Field Manual on Reproductive Health in Humanitarian Settings: Revising the Global Standards*, December 12, 2017, <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29231788/">https://spherestandards.org/handbook-2018/</a> and the 2018 Angel M. Foster et al., *The 2018 Inter-agency Field Manual on Reproductive Health in Humanitarian Settings: Revising the Global Standards*, December 12, 2017, <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29231788/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29231788/</a> call for provision of a minimum set of life-saving, reproductive health services within 72 hours of the onset of an emergency (called the Minimum Initial Service).

Package in the IAFM). The IAFM also calls for transition to comprehensive SRH services as soon as feasible (within 6 months); FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR, PAI, *Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts.*; Guttmacher Institute et al., *Estimates of the Potential.*; CARE and Landis, *Gender-Based Violence.*; Girls Not Brides, *COVID-19 and child.*; UN, *Policy Brief.* 

65. Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; Coalition to End Violence Against Women and Girls Globally, COVID-19 and Gender-Based.; Guttmacher Institute et al., Estimates of the Potential.

66. Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; IPPF, "Contraception and COVID-19," International Planned Parenthood Federation.; Save the Children, 8 Ways.; Guttmacher Institute et al., Estimates of the Potential.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; Girls Not Brides USA, COVID-19 and Adolescent.

67. PEPFAR, PEPFAR Technical Guidance.

68. International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF), Laura Hurley, "How will the coronavirus affect access to safe abortion?," International Planned Parenthood Federation, last modified March 20, 2020, <a href="https://www.ippf.org/blogs/how-will-coronavirus-affect-access-safe-abortion">https://www.ippf.org/blogs/how-will-coronavirus-affect-access-safe-abortion</a>; Guttmacher Institute et al., *Estimates of the Potential*.

69. Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; UNFPA et al., Impact of the COVID-19.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; Guttmacher Institute et al., Estimates of the Potential.

70. CARE and Landis, Gender-Based Violence.; CGD et al., Pandemics and Violence.; UNICEF, Not just hotlines; UNFPA, COVID-19: A Gender Lens.; IASC, Interagency GBV Guidelines Implementation Support Team, and GBV Guidelines Reference Group, Identifying & Mitigating.; WBG, Gender Dimensions.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; UN, Policy Brief.

71. CGD et al., Pandemics and Violence.; CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; UN, Policy Brief; UNFPA, COVID-19: A Gender Lens.; World Health Organization, COVID-19 and violence against women: What the health sector/system can do, April 7, 2020, <a href="https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/COVID-19-and-violence-against-women">https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/COVID-19</a>- and violence against women: What the health sector/system can do, April 7, 2020, <a href="https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/COVID-19-and-violence-against-women">https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/COVID-19-and-violence-against-women</a>; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.

72. WEI et al., Statement on Rights.

73. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; CARE and Kapur, Gender Analysis.; World Health Organization, COVID-19 and violence.; CGD et al., Pandemics and Violence.; World Vision, COVID-19 Aftershocks: A Perfect Storm: Millions More Children at Risk of Violence Under Lockdown and Into the 'New Normal', <a href="https://www.wvi.org/sites/default/files/2020-05/Aftershocks%20FINAL%20VERSION\_0.pdf">https://www.wvi.org/sites/default/files/2020-05/Aftershocks%20FINAL%20VERSION\_0.pdf</a>.

74. CARE, *Gender-Based Violence*.; World Health Organization, *COVID-19 and violence*.; Alisha Haridasani Gupta and Aviva Stahl, "For Abused Women, a Pandemic Lockdown Holds Dangers of Its Own," The New York Times, last modified March 24, 2020, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/24/us/coronavirus-lockdown-domestic-violence.html</u>.

75. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; Davies and Bennet, A gendered.; WBG, Gender Dimensions.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; Center for Global Development, CGD et al., Pandemics and Violence.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; UNFPA, COVID-19: A Gender Lens.

76. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; WBG, Gender Dimensions.; UN, Policy Brief.; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.

77. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; UNICEF, Not just hotlines.; UNFPA, COVID-19: A Gender Lens.

78. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; Coalition to End Violence Against Women and Girls Globally, COVID-19 and Gender-Based; UN, Policy Brief.

79. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; UNICEF, Not just hotlines; UN, Policy Brief.

80. UNICEF, Not just hotlines; International Rescue Committee (IRC), "New Data Shows a Decrease in Women Being Able to Report Incidents of Domestic Violence in Fragile and Conflict-Affected Countries," news release, May 7, 2020, <u>https://www.rescue.org/press-release/new-data-shows-decrease-women-being-able-report-incidents-domestic-violence-fragile.</u>; CARE, *Gender-Based Violence*.

81. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.

82. United Nations Population Fund UNFPA et al., Impact of the COVID-19.

83. Ibid.

84. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; CGD et al., Pandemics and Violence.; UNICEF, Not just hotlines.; CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; UNICEF, Not just hotlines.

85. UNICEF, Not just hotlines.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; CARE, International Rescue Committee (IRC), CARE et al., *Global Rapid Gender Analysis.*: CARE, *Gender-Based Violence.*; UN, *Policy Brief*; UNFPA, *COVID-19: A Gender Lens.*; IASC, Inter-agency GBV Guidelines Implementation Support Team, and GBV Guidelines Reference Group, *Identifying & Mitigating.*; WEI et al., *Statement on Rights.*; Girls Not Brides, *COVID-19 and child.*; World Health Organization, *COVID-19 and violence.*; MenEngage and Sonke Gender Justice, *An Equity-Based Approach.*; Center for Global Development, CGD et al., *Pandemics and Violence.*; FEMNET, *#InclusiveLockdown.* 

86. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; Call to Action on Protection from Gender-Based Violence in Emergencies, Joint Statement.

87. Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; CGD et al., Pandemics and Violence.; Pathfinders, Peace, Justice, and Inclusion in the Pandemic: Sharing Country Experiences: Domestic Violence and the COVID-19 Pandemic, <a href="https://bf889554-6857-4cfe-8d55-8770007b8841">https://bf889554-6857-4cfe-8d55-8770007b8841</a>. filesusr.com/ugd/6c192f\_3702745ca5ed402f8f2ec7635277919e.pdf.

88. UNICEF, Not just hotlines.

89. Ibid.

90. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.

91. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; Call to Action on Protection from Gender-Based Violence in Emergencies, Joint Statement.; (CARE) et al., "The Importance."; Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE), Savings Group Risk Mitigation, Support, and Engagement in Relation to COVID-19, 2020, https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/care\_covid-19\_savings\_group\_guidance.pdf; (IASC), Inter-agency GBV Guidelines Implementation Support Team, and GBV Guidelines Reference Group, Identifying & Mitigating.

92. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CGD et al., Pandemics and Violence.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.

93. FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; Coalition to End Violence Against Women and Girls Globally, COVID-19 and Gender-Based.; UNICEF, Not just hotlines; CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; FEMNET, #InclusiveLockdown.

- 94. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.
- 95. UNFPA, COVID-19: A Gender Lens.; CARE, Savings Group.
- 96. CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; The Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition to John Barsa et al., "Big Ideas."
- 97. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.

Coalition to End Violence Against Women and Girls Globally, COVID-19 and Gender-Based; CGD et al., Pandemics and Violence.

- 98. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; UNFPA, COVID-19: A Gender Lens.
- 99. MADRE et al., From Global Coordination.

100. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), UNFPA Humanitarian Cash and Voucher Assistance (CVA) Tip Sheet #2: CVA and COVID-19, 2020, <a href="https://gbvaor.net/sites/default/files/2020-05/UNFPA%20CVA%20Tip%20Sheet%20%232%20-%20">https://gbvaor.net/sites/default/files/2020-05/UNFPA%20CVA%20Tip%20Sheet%20%232%20-%20</a> CVA%20%26%20COVID-19.pdf.

101. American Economic Association (AEA) et al., The Effect of Cash, Vouchers, and Food Transfers on Intimate Partner Violence: Evidence from a Randomized Experiment in Northern Ecuador, July 3, 2016, https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/app.20150048.

102. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; Call to Action on Protection from Gender-Based Violence in Emergencies, Joint Statement.; CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; WBG, Gender Dimensions.; UN, Policy Brief.

103. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; Call to Action on Protection from Gender-Based Violence in Emergencies, Joint Statement.

104. CGD et al., Pandemics and Violence.

105. Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO) et al., Women and Men in the Informal Economy: A Statistical Brief, https://www. wiego.org/sites/default/files/publications/files/Women%20and%20Men%20in%20the%20Informal%20Economy%20-%20A%20Statistical%20Brief%20-%20 for%20web.pdf; Oxfam, Dignity not Destitution.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.

106. National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) et al., *The Impact of COVID-19 on Gender Equality*, April 2020, <a href="https://www.nber.org/papers/w26947.pdf">https://www.nber.org/papers/w26947.pdf</a>; According to Oxfam Digital Repository, "Jobs are the single most important vehicle for stopping the economic freefall in which many families find themselves. However, it will take seven or more years for the job market to return to pre-crisis levels. For the USA, for example, Hughes and Seneca (2009) estimate that only by 2017 will the backlog of job shortages be eradicated. Similarly, a survey of the employment effects of 80 financial crises summarized that it took three years for wages to return to pre-crisis levels, and employment seven years (UNDP, 1999). The attitudes surveys cited in this paper suggest that women and people of colour will be at the back of the very long job queue, waiting the longest to be re-employed, and yet, with the greatest constraints on surviving unemployment.": Oxford Committee for Famine Relief (Oxfam), *Gender and the Economic Crisis*, ed. Ruth Pearson and Caroline Sweetman (Rugby, United Kingdom: Practical Action Publishing, 2011), <a href="https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/121671/bk-gender-economic-crisis-100211-en.pdf">https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/121671/bk-gender-economic-crisis-100211-en.pdf</a>?

107. Oxfam, Dignity not Destitution.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.

108. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; NBER et al., The Impact of COVID-19.

109. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.

110. CARE, Buschmann, and Fuhrman, COVID-19 Could.; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.

111. CARE, Buschmann, and Fuhrman, COVID-19 Could.

112. World Bank Group (WBG), "World Bank Predicts Sharpest Decline of Remittances in Recent History," The World Bank, last modified April 22, 2020, <a href="https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2020/04/22/world-bank-predicts-sharpest-decline-of-remittances-in-recent-history">https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2020/04/22/world-bank-predicts-sharpest-decline-of-remittances-in-recent-history</a>.

113. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.

114. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic; Oxfam International, Time to Care: Unpaid and underpaid care work and the global inequality crisis, <a href="https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/620928/bp-time-to-care-inequality-200120-en.pdf?sequence=36">https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/620928/bp-time-to-care-inequality-200120-en.pdf?sequence=36</a>.

115. The Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition to John Barsa et al., "Big Ideas."; Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; Girls Not Brides USA, COVID-19 and Adolescent

116. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), *The Social and Economic Impact of COVID-19 in the Asia-Pacific Region*, <u>https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/crisis-prevention-and-recovery/the-social-and-economic-impact-of-COVID-19-in-asia-pacific.html</u>.; CWEEE, *COVID-19 and Women's Economic*; CARE et al., *Global Rapid Gender Analysis* citing Clare Wenham, Julia Smith, and Rosemary Morgan, "COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak," *The Lancet* 395, no. 10227 (March 6, 2020), <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30526-2</u>.

- 117. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.
- 118. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic; CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.;
- 119. CARE, Buschmann, and Fuhrman, COVID-19 Could.

120. Ibid.

- 121. CARE, Buschmann, and Fuhrman, COVID-19 Could.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.
- 122. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.

123. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.

124. FEMNET, #InclusiveLockdown.; WBG and GIL, Supporting Women.

125. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.

126. Ibid.

127. Ibid.

128. Oxfam, Dignity not Destitution.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; Save the Children, 8 Ways; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; CARE et al., "The Importance of Acting."; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.; World Bank Group: WBG and GIL, Supporting Women.; UN, Policy Brief.

129. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; CARE, Savings Group; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.

130. UN, Policy Brief.

131. FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; WIEGO and Harvey, "How cities," WIEGO.

132. WIEGO and Harvey, "How cities," WIEGO.

133. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; Cooperative for Assistance and Relief for Everyone (CARE), Learning Brief: VSLA and CARE Adaptations to COVID-19 and Past Crises, April 24, 2020, <a href="https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/care\_covid-19\_vsla\_program\_examples\_final\_external.pdf">https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/care\_covid-19\_vsla\_program\_examples\_final\_external.pdf</a>; UN, Policy Brief.

134. The SEEP Network, Savings Groups and COVID-19, 2020, https://seepnetwork.org/files/galleries/SEEP\_Savings-Groups-and-COVID19\_20200329\_FINAL.pdf.

135. Women's Budget Group (WBG) et al., Investing in the Care Economy: Simulating employment effects by gender in countries in emerging economies, ed. Eva Neitzert and Mary-Ann Stephenson, <a href="https://www.ituc-csi.org/IMG/pdf/care\_economy\_2\_en\_web.pdf">https://www.ituc-csi.org/IMG/pdf/care\_economy\_2\_en\_web.pdf</a>; Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO), Impact of public health measures on informal workers' livelihoods: Rapid assessment, <a href="https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/">https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/</a> resources/file/Impact\_on\_livelihoods\_COVID-19\_final\_EN\_1.pdf; WBG and GIL, Supporting Women.

136. Women's Budget Group (WBG), The impact on women of the 2016 Budget: Women paying for the Chancellor's tax cuts, April 2016, <a href="http://wbg.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/WBG\_2016Budget\_FINAL\_April-1.pdf">http://wbg.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/WBG\_2016Budget\_FINAL\_April-1.pdf</a>.

137. WIEGO and Harvey, "How cities," WIEGO.

138. WBG and GIL, Supporting Women.

139. FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; MenEngage and Sonke Gender Justice, An Equity-Based Approach.; Save the Children, 8 Ways;

140. WBG and GIL, Supporting Women.; FEMNET, #InclusiveLockdown.

141. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA), Global Humanitarian Response Plan COVID-19, May 2020, https://www.unocha.org/sites/unocha/files/GHRP-COVID19\_May\_Update.pdf.

142. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; WBG and GIL, Supporting Women.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.

143. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

144. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; WBG and GIL, Supporting Women.

145. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; World Food Programme, 2020; https://wfpusa.org/women-are-hungrierinfographic/

146. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.

147.

148. CARE, *COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.*; World Food Programme (WFP), "COVID-19 will double number of people facing food crises unless swift action is taken," World Food Programme, last modified April 21, 2020, <u>https://www.wfp.org/news/COVID-19-will-double-number-people-facing-food-crises-unless-swift-action-taken</u>.

149. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) et al., «Poverty and food insecurity could grow dramatically as COVID-19 spreads,» International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), last modified April 16, 2020, <a href="https://www.ifpri.org/blog/poverty-and-food-insecurity-could-grow-dramatically-covid-19-spreads">https://www.ifpri.org/blog/poverty-and-food-insecurity-could-grow-dramatically-covid-19-spreads</a>.

150. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Neha Kumar, and Agnes R. Quisumbing, *Gendered impacts of the 2007–2008 food price crisis: Evidence using panel data from rural Ethiopia*, June 2011, <u>http://ebrary.ifpri.org/utils/getfile/collection/p15738coll2/id/124920/filename/124921.pdf</u>.

151. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; World Food Programme, 2020; https://wfpusa.org/women-are-hungrier-infographic/

152. Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.; IFPRI et al., "Poverty and food insecurity," IFPRI.

153. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

154. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.

155. Ibid.

156. Ibid.

157. United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), "As COVID-19 devastates already fragile health systems, over 6,000 additional children under five could die a day, without urgent action," UNICEF, last modified May 12, 2020, https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/covid-19-devastates-already-fragile-health-systems-over-6000-additional-children.

158. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; CARE et al., "The Importance of Acting."

159. FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.

160.CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; WBG and GIL, Supporting Women.

161. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.

162. Ibid.

163. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.

164. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.

165. Ibid.

166. Ibid.

167. IFPRI et al., "Poverty and food insecurity," IFPRI.

168. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA), Global Humanitarian Overview 2020, 2020, https://www.unocha.org/sites/unocha/files/GHO-2020\_v91.pdf.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

169. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; UNOCHA, Global Humanitarian Overview 2020.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

170. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; The UN Refugee Agency (UNHCR), "UN Refugee Agency steps up COVID-19 preparedness, prevention and response measures," UNHCR The UN Refugee Agency USA, last modified March 10, 2020, <u>https://www.unhcr.org/en-us/news/press/2020/3/5e677f634/un-refugeeagency-steps-COVID-19-preparedness-prevention-response-measures.html</u>.; World Health Organization (WHO), *Promoting the health of refugees and migrants: Draft global action plan, 2019–2023, April 25, 2019, <u>https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA72/A72\_25-en.pdf?ua=1</u>.* 

171. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; Eric Reidy, "How the coronavirus outbreak could hit refugees and migrants," The New Humanitarian, last modified February 27, 2020, <u>https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/news/2020/02/27/Coronavirus-Iran-refugees-IDPs-Italy-Europe-disease</u>.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

172. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; Reidy, "How the coronavirus," The New Humanitarian.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

173. UN, Policy Brief.; Coalition to End Violence Against Women and Girls Globally, COVID-19 and Gender-Based.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

174. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; Coalition to End Violence Against Women and Girls Globally, COVID-19 and Gender-Based.; CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; Call to Action on Protection from Gender-Based Violence in Emergencies, Joint Statement.

175. CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; UNFPA, COVID-19: A Gender Lens.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

176. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; Reidy, "How the coronavirus," The New Humanitarian.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

177. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.

178. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.

179. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.

180. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; Oxfam, Dignity not Destitution.

181. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; Oxfam, Dignity not Destitution.

- 182. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.
- 183. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.

184. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; Save the Children, 8 Ways.

185. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

186. Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.; Girls Not Brides USA, COVID-19 and Adolescent.

187. The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) et al., "COVID-19 school closures around the world will hit girls hardest," UNESCO, last modified March 31, 2020, https://en.unesco.org/news/COVID-19-school-closures-around-world-will-hit-girls-hardest.

188. CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; IASC, Inter-agency GBV Guidelines Implementation Support Team, and GBV Guidelines Reference Group, Identifying & Mitigating.; UNESCO et al., "COVID-19 School Closures," UNESCO.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.

189. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

190. Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; The Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition to John Barsa et al., "Big Ideas."; CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., Interim Guidance.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.; Girls Not Brides USA, COVID-19 and Adolescent.

191. World Bank Group (WBG) et al., *Missed Opportunities: The High Cost of Not Educating Girls*, July 2018, <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/</u> handle/10986/29956/HighCostOfNotEducatingGirls.pdf?sequence=6&isAllowed=y.

192. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.

193. CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; Save the Children, 8 Ways.

194. Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; Girls Not Brides USA, COVID-19 and Adolescent.

195. World Bank Group (WBG) et al., Missed Opportunities.

196. CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.

197. Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.

198. Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.;

199.IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action et al., *Interim Guidance*.; GNB Secretariat Agenda for Action, <u>https://www.girlsnotbrides.org/</u>wp-content/uploads/2020/04/COVID-19-and-child-early-and-forced-marriage.pdf

200. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.

201. FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.

202. World Bank Group (WBG) et al., *Missed Opportunities*.; United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), "COVID-19 school closures: Why girls are more at risk," UNESCO.org, last modified April 29, 2020, <u>http://www.iiep.unesco.org/en/COVID-19-school-closures-why-girls-are-more-risk-13406.</u>

203. Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; Girls Not Brides USA, COVID-19 and Adolescent.

204. Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.; Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child

205. United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), Gender and Recovery Toolkit: Advancing Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment in Crisis and Recovery Settings, 2019, <a href="https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/undp-bpps-gender-UNDP\_Gender\_and\_Recovery\_Toolkit.pdf">https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/undp-bpps-gender-UNDP\_Gender\_and\_Recovery\_Toolkit.pdf</a>.

#### 206. CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.

207. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CARE, Gender-Based Violence; FEMNET, #InclusiveLockdown.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; Coalition to End Violence Against Women and Girls Globally, COVID-19 and Gender-Based.; CWEEE, COVID-19 and Women's Economic.; CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; CARE, Buschmann, and Fuhrman, COVID-19 Could.; The Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition to John Barsa et al., "Big Ideas."; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; MenEngage and Sonke Gender Justice, An Equity-Based Approach.; Save the Children, 8 Ways.; PAI, Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.; Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and child.

208. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.

209. CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; The Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition to John Barsa et al., "Big Ideas."; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; FEMNET, #InclusiveLockdown.

210. Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) and The United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment (UN Women), *The IASC Gender Accountability Framework Report - 2018*, 2018, <a href="https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/files/2020-02/IASC%20AF%20Gender%20Report%202018%20">https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/files/2020-02/IASC%20AF%20Gender%20Report%202018%20</a> with%20Recommendations%20Table.pdf.

211. CARE, Buschmann, and Fuhrman, COVID-19 Could.; Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO), Impact of public.

212. CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; MenEngage and Sonke Gender Justice, An Equity-Based Approach.; Save the Children, 8 Ways.; CARE, Buschmann, and Fuhrman, COVID-19 Could.

213. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; MenEngage and Sonke Gender Justice, An Equity-Based Approach.; PAI, Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.; Save the Children, 8 Ways.

214. CARE, COVID 19, Food & Nutrition.; CARE et al., Global Rapid Gender Analysis.; MenEngage and Sonke Gender Justice, An Equity-Based Approach.; Save the Children, 8 Ways.; CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; PAI, Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.

215. CARE, Gender-Based Violence.; CARE, Gender Implications of COVID-19.; Plan International and von Ahlen, COVID-19: The Impact.; FAR, "Call for a Feminist," FAR.; MenEngage and Sonke Gender Justice, An Equity-Based Approach.

216. Alisha Haridasani Gupta and Aviva Stahl, "For Abused Women."



## Bibliography

- African Women's Development and Communication Network (FEMNET). #InclusiveLockdown : Key Practical RECOMMENDATIONS by African Women & Girls. 2020. https://femnet.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/InclusiveLockdown-Keys-RECOMMENDATIONS-by-African-women-and-girls.pdf.
- American Economic Association (AEA), Melissa Hidrobo, Amber Peterman, and Lori Heise. The Effect of Cash, Vouchers, and Food Transfers on Intimate Partner Violence: Evidence from a Randomized Experiment in Northern Ecuador. <u>https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/app.20150048</u>.
- Banerjee, Neela. "Q&A: A Harvard Expert on Environment and Health Discusses Possible Ties Between COVID and Climate." InsideClimate News. Last modified March 12, 2020. <u>https://insideclimatenews.org/news/11032020/coronavirus-harvard-doctor-climate-change-public-health</u>.
- The Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition. Letter to John Barsa, Julie Cram, Michelle Bekkering, and Diana Prieto, "Big Ideas for Women and Girls Coalition Community Letter to USAID on COVID-19: Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment," May 1, 2020. <u>https://ncbaclusa.coop/content/uploads/2020/05/</u> <u>Community-Letter-to-USAID\_COVID-19\_Gender-Equality-and-Womens-Empowerment.pdf</u>.
- Boyce, Caitlin. "Are women and girls more vulnerable to tuberculosis and malaria?" United Nations Development Programme. Last modified March 23, 2016. <u>https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/blog/2016/3/23/Are-women-and-girls-more-vulnerable-to-tuberculosis-and-malaria.html</u>.
- Call to Action on Protection from Gender-Based Violence in Emergencies. Joint Statement on Gender-Based Violence & COVID-19. April 29, 2020. <u>https://lac32146-ecc0-406e-be7d-301d317d8317.filesusr.com/ugd/1b9009\_de85e8269c1d47f6b175e6d304102871.pdf</u>.
- Center for Global Development (CGD), Amber Peterman, Alina Potts, Megan O'Donnell, Kelly Thompson, Niyati Shah, Sabine Oertelt-Prigione, and Nicole van Gelder. Pandemics and Violence Against Women and Children. April 1, 2020. <u>https://www.cgdev.org/publication/pandemics-and-violence-against-women-and-children</u>.
- Clean Cooking Alliance. COVID-19, Air Pollution, and Cooking: A Deadly Connection. 2020. <u>https://www.cleancookingalliance.org/binary-data/RESOURCE/</u> <u>file/000/000/589-1.pdf</u>.
- Coalition for Women's Economic Empowerment and Equality (CWEEE). COVID-19 and Women's Economic Empowerment. 2020. <u>https://www.care.org/sites/</u> <u>default/files/cweee\_covid\_and\_wee\_brief\_final.pdf</u>.
- Coalition to End Violence Against Women and Girls Globally. COVID-19 and Gender-Based Violence Globally: U.S. Government Response Must Address Gender-Based Violence. Compiled by Aapta Garg, Gayatri Patel, Leila Milani, and Tarah Demant. 2020. <u>http://www.endgbvnow.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/</u> <u>GBV-Coalition-COVID-Brief.pdf</u>.
- Cooperative Assistance for Relief Everywhere (CARE), International Rescue Committee (IRC), Christina Haneef, and Anushka Kalyanpur. Global Rapid Gender Analysis for COVID-19. March 2020. <u>https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/global\_rga\_covid\_rdm\_3.31.20\_final.pdf</u>.
- Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE). COVID19, Food & Nutrition Security, and Gender Equality: How women, gender equality, and social norms are critical to recovering from the COVID19 crisis—and building back better. April 29, 2020. <a href="https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/covid\_food\_security\_and\_gender\_equality.pdf">https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/covid\_food\_security\_and\_gender\_equality.pdf</a>.
- ———. Gender Implications of COVID-19 Outbreaks in Development and Humanitarian Settings. 2020. <u>https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/gendered\_implications\_of\_covid-19\_files/genderedfiles/gend</u>
- ———. Savings Group Risk Mitigation, Support, and Engagement in Relation to COVID-19. 2020. <u>https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/care\_covid-19\_savings\_group\_guidance.pdf</u>.
- Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE), Mareen Buschmann, and Sarah Fuhrman. COVID-19 Could Condemn Women To Decades of Poverty: Implications of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Women and Girls' Economic Justice and Rights. Compiled by Hester Le Roux, Francesca Rhodes, Paulien Boone, Alex Eastham, Gayatri Patel, Christian Pennotti, Delphine Pinault, and Katherine Nightingale. April 2020. <u>https://insights.careinternational.org.</u> <u>uk/media/k2/attachments/CARE\_- Implications\_of\_COVID-19\_on\_WEE\_300420\_1.pdf</u>.
- Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE), International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent (IFRC), Oxford Committee for Famine Relief (Oxfam), The United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN Women), United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), and Women's Refugee Commission (WRC). "The Importance of Acting on Grand Bargain Commitments for a Meaningful Focus on Gender in Cash and Voucher Assistance Responses to the COVID-19 Pandemic." News release. May 2020. <u>https://www.calpnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/ninja-forms/2/Gender-Cash-Sub-WG-COVID\_2-pager-200514.pdf</u>.
- Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE), and Nidhi Kapur. Gender Analysis: Prevention and Response to Ebola Virus Disease in the Democratic Republic of Congo. January 2020. <u>https://www.care-international.org/files/files/Ebola\_Gender\_Analysis\_English\_v2.pdf</u>.
- Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere (CARE), and Debbie Landis. Gender-Based Violence (GBV) and COVID-19: The Complexities of Responding to "The Shadow Pandemic." Compiled by Amy O'Toole, Isadora Quay, Holly Radice, Erin Patrick, Everjoy Mahuku, Hilary Mathews, Anushka Kalyanpur, Allison Burden, Zainab Ibrahim, Jayanthi Kuru, Laura Tashjian, Susannah Friedman, Gayatri Patel, Milkah Kihunah, and Sarah Lynch. May 2020. <a href="https://www.care-international.org/files/files/GBV">https://www.care-international.org/files/files/GBV</a> and COVID 19 Policy Brief FINAL.pdf.
- Cooperative for Assistance and Relief for Everyone (CARE). Learning Brief: VSLA and CARE Adaptations to COVID-19 and Past Crises. April 24, 2020. <a href="https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/care\_covid-19\_vsla\_program\_examples\_final\_external.pdf">https://www.care.org/sites/default/files/documents/care\_covid-19\_vsla\_program\_examples\_final\_external.pdf</a>.

- Davies, Sara E., and Belinda Bennet. A gendered human rights analysis of Ebola and Zika: locating gender in global health emergencies. August 31, 2016. <a href="https://academic.oup.com/ia/article/92/5/1041/2688120">https://academic.oup.com/ia/article/92/5/1041/2688120</a>.
- de la O Campos, Ana Paula, and Elisabeth Garner. Women's resilience to food price volatility: A policy response. May 2012. http://www.fao.org/3/i3617e/i3617e.pdf.
- Fawole, Olufunmilayo I., Olufunmi F. Bamiselu, Peter A. Adewuyi, and Patrick M. Nguku. Gender dimensions to the Ebola outbreak in Nigeria. January 2016. <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5452690/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5452690/</a>.
- Feminist Alliance for Rights (FAR). "Call for a Feminist COVID-19 Policy." Feminist Alliance for Rights (FAR). Last modified May 28, 2020. <u>http://feministallianceforrights.</u> org/blog/2020/03/20/action-call-for-a-feminist-covid-19-policy/.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Ana Paula de la O Campos, and Elisabeth Garner. Women's resilience to food price volatility: A policy response. May 2012. <u>http://www.fao.org/3/i3617e/i3617e.pdf</u>.
- Foster, Angel M., Dabney P. Evans, Melissa Garcia, Sarah Knaster, Sandra Krause, Therese McGinn, Sarah Rich, Meera Shah, Hannah Tappis, and Erin Wheeler. The 2018 Inter-agency Field Manual on Reproductive Health in Humanitarian Settings: Revising the Global Standards. December 12, 2017. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29231788/</u>.
- Friedman, Lisa. "New Research Links Air Pollution to Higher Coronavirus Death Rates." The New York Times. Last modified April 7, 2020. <u>https://www.nytimes.</u> <u>com/2020/04/07/climate/air-pollution-coronavirus-covid.html</u>.
- Front Line Defenders. "Crisis: COVID-19 & Impact on Human Rights Defenders." Front Line Defenders. Last modified 2020. <u>https://www.frontlinedefenders.org/</u> <u>en/campaign/covid-19-attacks-hrds-time-pandemic</u>.
- Girls Not Brides, COVID-19 and Child, Early and Forced Marriage: An Agenda for Action. April 2020. <u>https://www.girlsnotbrides.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/</u> <u>COVID-19-and-child-early-and-forced-marriage.pdf</u>.
- Girls Not Brides USA. COVID-19 and Adolescent Girls: Ensuring the U.S. Government's Response Prioritizes the Needs of Child Brides and Girls at Risk of Child Marriage. 2020. <u>https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/GNBUSA-COVID-19-Policy-Brief\_Final.pdf</u>.
- Global Health 5050. "Sex, gender and COVID-19: overview and resources: Tracking differences in COVID-19 illness and death among women and men." Global Health 5050. Last modified 2020. <u>https://globalhealth5050.org/covid19/</u>.
- ----. "Sex, Gender and COVID-19: Overview & Resources." Global Health 5050. Last modified 2020. https://globalhealth5050.org/covid19/.
- Guttmacher Institute, Taylor Riley, Elizabeth Sully, Zara Ahmed, and Ann Biddlecom. Estimates of the Potential Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Sexual and Reproductive Health In Low- and Middle-Income Countries. <u>https://www.guttmacher.org/journals/ipsrh/2020/04/estimates-potential-impactcovid-19-pandemic-sexual-and-reproductive-health</u>.
- Haridasani Gupta, Alisha, and Aviva Stahl. "For Abused Women, a Pandemic Lockdown Holds Dangers of Its Own." The New York Times. Last modified March 24, 2020. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2020/03/24/us/coronavirus-lockdown-domestic-violence.html</u>.
- Human Rights Watch (HRW). "COVID-19: A Human Rights Checklist." Human Rights Watch. Last modified 2020. <u>https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/14/covid-19-human-rights-checklist</u>.
- IASC Reference Group for Gender in Humanitarian Action, United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA), United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), International Medical Corps (IMC), Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC), United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), Oxford Committee for Famine Relief (Oxfam), Women's Refugee Commission (WRC), The United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN Women), The United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere International (CARE), World Food Programme (WFP), Hebrew Immigrant Aid Society (HIAS), HelpAge International, World Health Organization (WHO), United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), and Concern. Interim Guidance: Gender Alert for COVID-19 Outbreak. March 2020. <u>https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/ files/2020-03/IASC%20Interim%20Guidance%20on%20COVID-19%20-%20Gender%20Alert.pdf</u>.
- Impassioned Advocates for Girls and Women (PAI). Mitigating COVID-19 Impacts on Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Civil Society Call to Action. April 2020. https://pai.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/SRHR-and-COVID-417.pdf.
- Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC), Inter-agency GBV Guidelines Implementation Support Team, and GBV Guidelines Reference Group. Identifying & Mitigating Gender-based Violence Risks within the COVID-19 Response. <a href="https://gbvguidelines.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Interagency-GBV-risk-mitigation-and-Covid-tipsheet.pdf">https://gbvguidelines.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Interagency-GBV-risk-mitigation-and-Covid-tipsheet.pdf</a>.
- Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC), and The United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment (UN Women). The IASC Gender Accountability Framework Report - 2018. 2018. https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/system/files/2020-02/IASC%20AF%20Gender%20Report%202018%20with%20 Recommendations%20Table.pdf.
- International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), Neha Kumar, and Agnes R. Quisumbing. Gendered impacts of the 2007–2008 food price crisis: Evidence using panel data from rural Ethiopia. June 2011. <u>http://ebrary.ifpri.org/utils/getfile/collection/p15738coll2/id/124920/filename/124921.pdf</u>.
- International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), David Laborde, Will Martin, and Rob Vos. "Poverty and food insecurity could grow dramatically as COVID-19 spreads." International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). Last modified April 16, 2020. <u>https://www.ifpri.org/blog/poverty-and-food-insecurity-could-grow-dramatically-covid-19-spreads</u>.
- International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF). "Contraception and COVID-19: Disrupted supply and access." International Planned Parenthood Federation. Last modified April 15, 2020. <u>https://www.ippf.org/blogs/contraception-and-covid-19-disrupted-supply-and-access</u>.

- ---. "COVID-19 and the rise of gender-based violence." International Planned Parenthood Federation. Last modified April 22, 2020. <u>https://www.ippf.org/blogs/covid-19-and-rise-gender-based-violence</u>.
- International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF), and Fabian Cataldo. "COVID-19: Amplifying the need for rapid progress towards Universal Health Coverage." International Planned Parenthood Federation. Last modified May 1, 2020. <u>https://www.ippf.org/blogs/covid-19-amplifying-need-rapid-progress-towards-universal-health-coverage</u>.
- International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF), and Laura Hurley. "How will the coronavirus affect access to safe abortion?" International Planned Parenthood Federation. Last modified March 20, 2020. <u>https://www.ippf.org/blogs/how-will-coronavirus-affect-access-safe-abortion</u>.
- International Rescue Committee (IRC). "New Data Shows a Decrease in Women Being Able to Report Incidents of Domestic Violence in Fragile and Conflict-Affected Countries." News release. May 7, 2020. <u>https://www.rescue.org/press-release/new-data-shows-decrease-women-being-able-report-incidentsdomestic-violence-fragile</u>.
- Koerth, Maggie. "Why Are More Men Than Women Dying Of COVID-19?" FiveThirtyEight. Last modified April 30, 2020. <u>https://fivethirtyeight.com/features/</u> why-are-more-men-than-women-dying-of-covid-19/.
- Kretchy, Irene A., Michelle Asiedu-Danso, and James-Paul Kretchy. Medication management and adherence during the COVID-19 pandemic: Perspectives and experiences from low-and middle-income countries. April 15, 2020. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7158799/</u>.
- MADRE, Media Matters for Women, MenEngage Alliance, Nobel Women's Initiative, OutRight Action International, Women Enabled International, and Women's International League for Peace and Freedom (WILPF). From Global Coordination to Local Strategies: A Practical Approach to Prevent, Address and Document Domestic Violence under COVID-19. <u>https://www.wilpf.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/MADRE-Domestic-Violence-Under-COVID-19-Briefing-Paper 4.21.20.pdf</u>.
- MenEngage, and Sonke Gender Justice. An Equity-Based Approach To Dealing With the Covid-19 Pandemic. 2020. <u>http://menengage.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/EQUITY-BASED-APPROACH-COVID-19.pdf</u>.
- National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER), Titan M. Alon, Matthias Doepke, Jane Olmstead-Rumsey, and Michèle Tertilt. The Impact of COVID-19 on Gender Equality. April 2020. https://www.nber.org/papers/w26947.pdf.
- Oxfam International. Time to Care: Unpaid and underpaid care work and the global inequality crisis. <u>https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/</u> <u>handle/10546/620928/bp-time-to-care-inequality-200120-en.pdf?sequence=36</u>.
- Oxford Committee for Famine Relief (Oxfam). Dignity Not Destitution: An 'Economic Rescue Plan For All' to tackle the Coronavirus crisis and rebuild a more equal world. April 9, 2020. <a href="https://assets.oxfamamerica.org/media/documents/mb-dignity\_not\_destitution-an-economic-rescue-plan-for-all-090420-en.pdf">https://assets.oxfamamerica.org/media/documents/mb-dignity\_not\_destitution-an-economic-rescue-plan-for-all-090420-en.pdf</a>.
- ———. Gender and the Economic Crisis. Edited by Ruth Pearson and Caroline Sweetman. Rugby, United Kingdom: Practical Action Publishing, 2011. <a href="https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/121671/bk-gender-economic-crisis-100211-en.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y">https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/121671/bk-gender-economic-crisis-100211-en.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</a>.
- Pathfinders. Peace, Justice, and Inclusion in the Pandemic: Sharing Country Experiences: Domestic Violence and the COVID-19 Pandemic. <u>https://bf889554-6857-4cfe-8d55-8770007b8841.filesusr.com/ugd/6c192f\_3702745ca5ed402f8f2ec7635277919e.pdf</u>.
- Plan International, Anne-Birgitte Albrectsen, and Stefania Giannini. "Covid-19 School Closures Around the World Will Hit Girls Hardest." Plan International Blog. https://www.planusa.org/covid-19-school-closures-around-the-world-will-hit-girls-hardest.
- Plan International, and John von Ahlen. COVID-19: The Impact on Girls. https://plan-international.org/publications/covid-19-impact-girls.
- President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR). PEPFAR Technical Guidance in Context of COVID-19 Pandemic. April 24, 2020. <u>https://www.state.gov/</u> wp-content/uploads/2020/04/04.24.2020-PEPFAR-Guidance-During-COVID-19.pdf.
- Refugees International, and Devon Cone. "Gender Matters: COVID-19'S Outsized Impact on Displaced Women and Girls." Refugees International. Last modified May 7, 2020. <u>https://www.refugeesinternational.org/reports/2020/5/4/gender-matters-covid-19s-outsized-impact-on-displaced-women-and-girls</u>.
- Reidy, Eric. "How the coronavirus outbreak could hit refugees and migrants." The New Humanitarian. Last modified February 27, 2020. <u>https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/news/2020/02/27/Coronavirus-Iran-refugees-IDPs-Italy-Europe-disease</u>.
- Save the Children. 8 Ways to Ensure Gender Equality Is at the Center of Responses to COVID 19. 2020. <u>https://www.savethechildren.org/us/what-we-do/</u> emergency-response/coronavirus-outbreak/gender-equality-coronavirus-response.
- The SEEP Network. Savings Groups and COVID-19. 2020. https://seepnetwork.org/files/galleries/SEEP\_Savings-Groups-and-COVID19\_20200329\_FINAL.pdf.
- Sphere Association. The Sphere Handbook: Humanitarian Charter and Minimum Standards in Humanitarian Response. Fourth ed. Geneva, Switzerland: Sphere Association, 2018. <a href="https://spherestandards.org/handbook-2018/">https://spherestandards.org/handbook-2018/</a>.
- United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). "As COVID-19 devastates already fragile health systems, over 6,000 additional children under five could die a day, without urgent action." UNICEF. Last modified May 12, 2020. <u>https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/covid-19-devastates-already-fragile-health-systems-over-6000-additional-children</u>.
- ———. "Not just hotlines and mobile phones: GBV Service provision during COVID-19." UNICEF. Last modified 2020. <u>https://www.unicef.org/media/68086/file/GBV%20Service%20Provision%20During%20COVID-19.pdf</u>.
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). Gender and Recovery Toolkit: Advancing Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment in Crisis and Recovery Settings. February 14, 2020. <u>https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/undp-bpps-gender-UNDP\_Gender\_and\_Recovery\_Toolkit.pdf</u>.

- ——. The Social and Economic Impact of Covid-19 in the Asia-Pacific Region. <u>https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/librarypage/crisis-prevention-and-recovery/the-social-and-economic-impact-of-covid-19-in-asia-pacific.html</u>.
- United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). "COVID-19 school closures: Why girls are more at risk." UNESCO.org. Last modified April 29, 2020. <u>http://www.iiep.unesco.org/en/covid-19-school-closures-why-girls-are-more-risk-13406</u>.
- The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), Plan International, Stefania Giannini, and Anne-Birgitte A Albrectsen. "Covid-19 school closures around the world will hit girls hardest." UNESCO. Last modified March 31, 2020. <u>https://en.unesco.org/news/covid-19-school-closures-around-world-will-hit-girls-hardest</u>.
- United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA). Global Humanitarian Overview 2020. 2020. <u>https://www.unocha.org/sites/unocha/files/GHO-2020\_v9.1.pdf</u>.
- -----. Global Humanitarian Response Plan COVID-19. May 2020. https://www.unocha.org/sites/unocha/files/GHRP-COVID19\_May\_Update.pdf.
- United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA). COVID-19: A Gender Lens: Protecting Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights, and Promoting Gender Equality. March 2020. <u>https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/COVID-19. A Gender Lens\_Guidance\_Note.pdf</u>.
- -----. UNFPA Humanitarian Cash and Voucher Assistance (CVA) Tip Sheet #2: CVA and COVID-19. 2020. <u>https://gbvaor.net/sites/default/files/2020-05/UNFPA%20</u> CVA%20Tip%20Sheet%20%232%20-%20CVA%20%26%20COVID-19.pdf.
- United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), Avenir Health, Johns Hopkins University (USA), and Victoria University (Australia). Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Family Planning and Ending Gender-based Violence, Female Genital Mutilation and Child Marriage: Pandemic threatens achievement of the Transformative Results committed to by UNFPA. April 27, 2020. <u>https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/COVID-19\_impact\_brief\_for\_UNFPA\_24\_April\_2020\_1.pdf</u>.
- United Nations (UN). Policy Brief: The Impact of COVID-19 on Women. April 9, 2020. <u>https://www.unwomen.org/-/media/headquarters/attachments/sections/library/publications/2020/policy-brief-the-impact-of-covid-19-on-women-en.pdf?la=en&vs=1406.</u>
- The UN Refugee Agency (UNHCR). "UN Refugee Agency steps up COVID-19 preparedness, prevention and response measures." UNHCR The UN Refugee Agency USA. Last modified March 10, 2020. <u>https://www.unhcr.org/en-us/news/press/2020/3/5e677f634/un-refugeeagency-steps-covid-19-preparedness-prevention-response-measures.html</u>.
- Wenham, Clare, Julia Smith, and Rosemary Morgan. "COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak." The Lancet 395, no. 10227 (March 6, 2020): 846-48. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30526-2">https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30526-2</a>.
- Women Enabled International (WEI), Red movimiento estamos tod@s en acción (META), Disabled Women in Africa (DIWA), CIMUNIDIS, Women with Disabilities India Network, and Lisa Adams. Statement on Rights at the Intersection of Gender and Disability during COVID-19. April 9, 2020. <u>https://womenenabled.org/blog/statement-on-covid-19-for-endorsement/</u>.
- Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO). Impact of public health measures on informal workers' livelihoods: Rapid assessment. <a href="https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/resources/file/Impact\_on\_livelihoods\_COVID-19\_final\_EN\_1.pdf">https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/resources/file/Impact\_on\_livelihoods\_COVID-19\_final\_EN\_1.pdf</a>.
- Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO), International Labour Organization (ILO), Florence Bonnet, Joann Vanek, and Martha Chen. Women and Men in the Informal Economy: A Statistical Brief. <u>https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/publications/files/Women%20and%20</u> <u>Men%20in%20the%20Informal%20Economy%20-%20A%20Statistical%20Brief%20-%20for%20web.pdf</u>.
- Women in Informal Employment (WIEGO), and Jenna Harvey. "How cities can support informal workers: COVID-19 and beyond." WIEGO. Last modified April 14, 2020. <a href="https://www.wiego.org/blog/how-cities-can-support-informal-workers-covid-19-and-beyond">https://www.wiego.org/blog/how-cities-can-support-informal-workers-covid-19-and-beyond</a>.
- Women's Budget Group (WBG). The impact on women of the 2016 Budget: Women paying for the Chancellor's tax cuts. April 2016. <a href="http://wbg.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/WBG\_2016Budget\_FINAL\_Apr16-1.pdf">http://wbg.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/WBG\_2016Budget\_FINAL\_Apr16-1.pdf</a>.
- Women's Budget Group (WBG), The United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN Women), International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC), Jerome De Henau, Susan Himmelweit, and Diane Perrons. Investing in the Care Economy: Simulating employment effects by gender in countries in emerging economies. Edited by Eva Neitzert and Mary-Ann Stephenson. January 2017. <u>https://www.ituc-csi.org/IMG/pdf/care\_economy 2\_en\_web.pdf</u>.
- Women's Entrepreneurship and Economic Empowerment Act of 2018, 2151 U.S.C. (Jan. 9, 2019). https://www.congress.gov/115/plaws/publ428/PLAW-115publ428. pdf.

World Bank Group. "Poverty Overview." The World Bank. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/poverty/overview.

- World Bank Group, and Gender Innovation Lab (GIL). Supporting Women Throughout the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Emergency Response and Economic Recovery. May 2020. <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/33612/Supporting-Women-Throughout-the-Coronavirus-Covid-19-Emergency-Response-and-Economic-Recovery.pdf?sequence=5&isAllowed=y.</u>
- World Bank Group (WBG). Gender dimensions of the COVID-19 pandemic. April 16, 2020. <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/618731587147227244/</u> pdf/Gender-Dimensions-of-the-COVID-19-Pandemic.pdf.
- ———. "World Bank Predicts Sharpest Decline of Remittances in Recent History." The World Bank. Last modified April 22, 2020. <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2020/04/22/world-bank-predicts-sharpest-decline-of-remittances-in-recent-history.</u>

- World Bank Group (WBG), Children's Investment Fund Foundation (CIFF), Global Partnership for Education (GPE), Malala Fund, Quentin Wodon, Claudio Montenegro, Hoa Nguyen, and Adenike Onagoruwa. Missed Opportunities: The High Cost of Not Educating Girls. July 2018. <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/29956/HighCostOfNotEducatingGirls.pdf?sequence=6&isAllowed=y</u>.
- World Bank Group (WBG), Ana Maria Munoz Boudet, Paola Buitrago, Benedicte Leroy de la Briere, David Newhouse, Eliana Rubiano Matulevich, Kinnon Scott, and Pablo Suarez-Becerra. Gender Differences in Poverty and Household Composition through the Life-cycle: A Global Perspective. March 2018. <a href="http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/135731520343670750/pdf/WPS8360.pdf">http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/135731520343670750/pdf/WPS8360.pdf</a>.
- World Food Programme (WFP). "COVID-19 will double number of people facing food crises unless swift action is taken." World Food Programme. Last modified April 21, 2020. <u>https://www.wfp.org/news/covid-19-will-double-number-people-facing-food-crises-unless-swift-action-taken</u>.
- ———. The potential of cash-based interventions to promote gender equality and women's empowerment: A multi-country study. February 2019. <u>https://docs.wfp.org/api/documents/WFP-0000102755/download/</u>.
- World Health Organization (WHO). COVID-19 and violence against women: What the health sector/system can do. April 7, 2020. <a href="https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/covid-19-and-violence-against-women">https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/covid-19-and-violence-against-women</a>.
- -----. "Malaria." World Health Organization. Last modified January 14, 2020. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/malaria.
- ———. Promoting the health of refugees and migrants: Draft global action plan, 2019–2023. April 25, 2019. <u>https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA72/A72\_25-en.pdf?ua=1</u>.
- World Health Organization (WHO), Mathieu Boniol, Michelle McIsaac, Lihui Xu, Tana Wuliji, Khassoum Diallo, and Jim Campbell. Gender equity in the health workforce: Analysis of 104 countries: Health Workforce Working paper 1. March 2019. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311314/WHO-HIS-HWF-Gender-WP1-2019.1-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO), Global Health Workforce Network, and Women in Global Health (WGH). Delivered by Women, Led by Men: A Gender and Equity Analysis of the Global Health and Social Workforce. 2019. <a href="https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311322/9789241515467-eng.pdf?ua=1">https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311322/9789241515467-eng.pdf?ua=1</a>.
- World Vision. COVID-19 Aftershocks: A Perfect Storm: Millions More Children at Risk of Violence Under Lockdown and Into the 'New Normal'. <u>https://www.wvi.org/sites/default/files/2020-05/Aftershocks%20FINAL%20VERSION\_0.pdf</u>.
- Wu, Xiao, Rachel C. Nethery, M. Benjamin Sabath, Danielle Braun, and Francesca Dominici. Exposure to air pollution and COVID-19 mortality in the United States: A nationwide cross-sectional study. April 24, 2020. <u>https://projects.iq.harvard.edu/files/covid-pm/files/pm\_and\_covid\_mortality\_med.pdf</u>.





**CARE USA** 151 Ellis Street, NE Atlanta, GA 30303 T) 404-681-2552 F) 404-589-2650

Founded in 1945 with the creation of the CARE Package<sup>®</sup>, CARE is a leading humanitarian organization fighting global poverty. CARE has more than seven decades of experience delivering emergency aid during times of crisis. Our emergency responses focus on the needs of the most vulnerable populations, particularly girls and women. Last year CARE worked in 100 countries and reached close to 70 million people around the world. To learn more, visit **www.care.org**.

July 2020